

INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION FOR STANDARDIZATION
ORGANISATION INTERNATIONALE DE NORMALISATION
ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2/IRG

Universal Multiple-Octet Coded Character Set
(UCS)

ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2/IRG **N1562**
2009-06-03

Title: IRG Principles and Procedures Version 3 Draft 1
Source: IRG P&P Drafting Group
Action: For review by the IRG and WG2
Distribution: IRG Members and Ideographic Experts
References: IRGN1561(P&PV2 and all feedbacks),
IRN1559(P&P V2Draft and all feedbacks),
IRGN 1465(P&P Draft1),
IRGN 1487(Feedback from HKSARG),
IRGN 1489(Feedback from Taichi Kawabata),
IRGN 1516Feedback from HKSARG)

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	3
1.1. Scope of IRG Work	3
1.2. Scope of This Document	3
2. Development of CJK Unified Ideographs	3
2.1. Principles on Identification of CJK Unified Ideographs	4
2.1.1. Principles on Encoding	4
2.1.2. Unification Procedures of CJK Ideographs	4
2.1.3. Non-cognate Rule	4
2.1.4. Maintaining Up-to-Date Unification/Non-unification Examples	4
2.2. Principles on Submission of Ideographs to the IRG	4
2.2.1. Basic Rules for Submission	4
2.2.2. Required Font to be Submitted	5
2.2.3. Required Data to be Submitted	5
2.2.4. Required Evidence to be Submitted	6
2.2.5. Required Summary Form to be Submitted	6
2.2.6. Quality Assurance: The 5% rule	6
2.3. Principles on Production of IRG Working Drafts	6
2.3.1. Principles on Submitted Ideographs	6
2.3.2. Principles on Assignment of Serial Number	7
2.3.3. Principles on Machine-checking of IDS of Submitted Ideographs	7
2.3.4. Production of IRG Working Drafts	7
2.4. Principles on Reviewing IRG Working Drafts	8
2.4.1. General Principles on Reviews	8
2.4.2. Principles on Manual Checking	8
2.4.3. Submission of Possibly Unifiable Ideographs	8
2.5. Principles on Discussions at IRG Meetings	8
2.5.1. Document-based Discussion	8
2.5.2. Discussion Procedures	9
2.5.3. Recording of Discussions	9
2.5.4. Time and Quality Management	9
2.6. Principles on Submission of Ideographs to WG2	9
2.6.1. Checking of Stabilized M-Set	9
2.6.2. Preparation for WG2 Submission	9
3. Procedures	10
3.1. Call for Submission	10

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 6

Deleted: 7

Deleted: 7

Deleted: 9

Deleted: 9

3.2. Consolidation and Grouping of Submitted Ideographs	10
3.3. First Checking Stage	10
3.4. First Discussion and Conclusion Stage	11
3.5. Second Checking Stage	11
3.6. Second Consolidation and Conclusion Stage	11
3.7. Final Checking Stage	11
3.8. Approval and Submission to WG2	12
4. Guidelines for Comments and Resolutions on Working Sets	12
4.1. Guidelines for M-set	12
4.2. Guidelines for D-set	13
5. IRG Website	13
6. IRG Document Registration	13
6.1. Registration Procedures	14
6.2. Contact for IRG Document Registration	14
Annex A: Sorting Algorithm of Ideographs	15
Annex B: IDS Matching	16
B.1. Guidelines on Creation of IDS	16
B.2. Requirements on IDS Matching	16
B.3. Limitation of IDS Matching	16
Annex C: Urgently Needed Ideographs	17
C.1. Introduction	17
C.2. Requirements	17
C.3. Dealing with Urgent Requests	17
Annex D: Up-to-Date CJK Unified Ideograph Sources and Source References	18
Annex E: List of Over-unified and Mis-unified Ideographs	21
E.1. Introduction	21
E.2. List of Over-unified Ideographs	21
E.3. List of Mis-unification Ideographs	21
WG2 Principles and Procedures Annex I: Guideline for Handling of CJK Ideograph Unification or Disunification Errors	24
I.1. Guideline for "To Be Unified" Errors	24
I.2. Guideline for "To Be Disunified" Errors	24
I.3. Discouragement of New Disunification Request	24
WG2 PnP Annex J: Guideline for Correction of CJK Ideograph Mapping Table Errors	25
References	26
Glossary: [to be updated later]	26

Deleted: 14

1. Introduction

This document is a standing document of ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2/IRG for standardization of Chinese-Japanese-Korean(CJK) Unified Ideographs. It consists of a set of principles and procedures on a number of items relevant to the preparation, submission and development of repertoires of CJK Unified Ideographs extensions for additions to the standard ([ISO/IEC 10646](#)). Submitters should check the standard documents (including all the amendments and corrigenda) before preparing new submissions.

For anything not explicitly covered in this document, the IRG will follow the Principles and Procedures of WG2 and other higher level directives.

1.1. Scope of IRG Work

The IRG works on CJK ideograph-related tasks under the supervision of WG2 (SC2 Resolution M13-05). The following is a list of current and completed IRG projects:

- a. CJK Unified Ideograph Repertoire and its extensions
- b. Kangxi Radicals and CJK Radical Supplements
- c. Ideographic Description Characters
- d. International Ideographs Core(IICore)
- e. CJK Strokes
- f. Old Hanzi

Work on new IRG projects requires the approval of WG2 and preparation of documents for such approval is required before the projects can officially launch in IRG.

1.2. Scope of This Document

The following sections are dedicated for standardization of CJK Unified Ideographs, describing the set of principles and procedures to be applied in the development of a new repertoire of CJK Unified Ideographs as specified under work item a in Section 1.1..

This document does not cover other IRG work items listed in Section 1.1. Standardizing CJK Compatibility Characters maintained in UCS for the purpose of round-trip integrity with other standards is out of IRG scope. However, CJK compatibility characters submitted to WG2 must be reviewed by the IRG to avoid potential problems. For handling mis-unification and duplicate ideographs, WG2 Principles and Procedures Annex I and J attached to this document should be referenced.

2. Development of CJK Unified Ideographs

Any new extension work must be approved by WG2 before the actual consolidation and review can be formally carried out. There are no fixed rules to initiate a new extension. Normally, some member bodies would first initiate it by submitting a proposal which states the need of a required repertoire. Submission of proposals must follow the principles and procedures stated in this document. The IRG would first review the proposal and determine that it is within the IRG scope.

Taking into consideration of the urgency, the justification and the repertoire size in the proposal, and the current workload of the IRG, the IRG may take one of the following actions.

- a. Endorse the proposal and submit it to WG2 for approval.
- b. Request other member bodies to submit characters of similar nature so as to estimate the real workload before submitting to WG2 for endorsement.
- c. Accept the proposal as a contribution to an ongoing IRG work item.
- d. Reject the proposals with justification. A rejected proposal may be revised and resubmitted to the IRG.

2.1. Principles on Identification of CJK Unified Ideographs

2.1.1. Principles on Encoding

Ideographs that have the same abstract shapes are unified under the unification rule (Annex S of ISO/IEC 10646) and assigned to a single character code. A CJK ideographic character can be represented in many actual forms depending on the writing style adopted. Examples of common writing styles include Song style and Ming style as typical print forms, Kai style as a hand written form, and Cao style as a cursive form. Stylistically different forms of the same character can be represented by a different number or different type of strokes or components, which may affect identification of the same abstract shape. In order to reach a common ground to identify those abstract shapes to be encoded as distinct CJK Unified Ideographs, the IRG only accepts submissions using a print form of glyphs (usually Song style or Ming style).

2.1.2. Unification Procedures of CJK Ideographs

Standard print forms of CJK ideographs are constructed with a combination of known components or stroke types. Many are determined by two components - a radical chosen to classify the character in dictionaries and possibly reflect the meaning of the character and a phonetic component which represents the pronunciation of the character. Basically, two submitted print forms of glyphs with different radicals are distinct characters even if they have the same phonetic component such as shown in the example of '理'(U+7406) and '鯉'(U+9BC9).. For non trivial cases, further shape analysis must be conducted. Two similar glyphs are decomposed into radicals, components or stroke types and evaluated by following the unification procedures described in Annex S of ISO/IEC 10646.

2.1.3. Non-cognate Rule

No matter how similar two ideographs are in actual shape, non-cognate or semantically different glyphs are considered to have different abstract shapes. The following gives examples of semantically different characters with very similar glyphs, thus are considered to have different abstract shapes because they are non-cognate.

'戌'(U+620C) and '戌'(U+620D) differ only in rotated strokes or dots (S.1.5 a).

'于'(U+4E8E) and '干'(U+5E72) differ only in folding back at the stroke termination (S.1.5 f).

Because shape analysis alone may not tell non-cognateness or semantic differences, it is the submitter's responsibility to provide information and supporting evidence in order to invoke the non-cognate rule.

2.1.4. Maintaining Up-to-Date Unification/Non-unification Examples

In annex S, unification / non-unification examples are summarized from past practice(currently, only reflecting the first unification work in the main block) and they are not exhaustive. If there is ambiguity in applying these rules, IRG must first have a formal discussion for agreement. In case of finding worthy recorded examples, IRG will maintain an up-to-date list of unification / non-unification examples by adding such examples. Furthermore, The list will be reported to WG2 from time to time as the input for Annex S revision.

2.2. Principles on Submission of Ideographs to the IRG

2.2.1. Basic Rules for Submission

A member body may submit the following to the IRG along with its repertoire. Different information may be handled differently as specified below.

- New Sources to standardized ideographs.** If the submission specifies new sources (such as an existing or a new national standard) to some existing standards, it needs to be reviewed and approved by the IRG before submission to WG2. Sources and source references in current ISO/IEC 10646 standard can be found in clause 27 of ISO/IEC 10646 First edition (2003-12-15)(See Annex D for up-to-date IRG list of sources)
- New Sources to working sets.** In case there are some remaining characters in previous standardization stages, new sources reviewed and approved by the IRG will be incorporated

into the up-to-date IRG list of sources for the current IRG working sets by the IRG technical editor.

- c. **New Compatibility Ideographs.** In case a member body needs to add compatibility ideographs, these characters must be reviewed by the IRG before submission to WG2 to avoid potential problems of unification or dis-unification with other CJK characters.
- d. **New Unified Ideographs.** All ideograph submissions are subject to the following rules:
 - (1). **Collection Size:** As the collection is defined by submitters according to their own criteria, IRG will not impose a limit on the collection size. However, to minimize the burden of the checking process and to achieve a higher quality of standard within a reasonably short period of time, review by IRG members normally cannot exceed 4,000 ideographs. Based on this principle, members may be asked to divide its submitted collections into subsets to be processed in different IRG collections.
 - (2). **Pre-submission Unification Checking:** A member body should be EXTREMELY CAREFUL **not to submit unified ideographs that are already standardized or previously discussed** and recorded at IRG meetings. By nature of the ideographs, it is very difficult for reviewers to find out all unifiable ideographs. Thus, it is important to keep high quality at the time of submission. Submitters must make sure that submitted ideographs do not fall into any of the following categories:
 - a) Ideographs already standardized in the ISO/IEC 10646 standard (including amendments).
 - b) Ideographs currently in WG2 working drafts (including PDAM, FPDAM and FDAM)
 - c) Ideographs currently in IRG working sets including both M-sets and D-sets.
 - d) Ideographs mis-unified or over-unified with ideographs in current standard based on the list maintained by IRG.

Low quality submission may become a subject of "5% rule" described in Section 2.2.6 below.

- (3). **Document Registration:** All submission documents should be registered as IRG N documents, whose file name should be in the form of:

IRGNnnnn_mmmm[_sss[_ppp]]_submission

where *nnnn* indicates an IRG rapporteur assigned document number, *mmm* indicates member body's source ID (as listed in 2.2.3a), *sss* can be any member body designated indicator, and *ppp* indicates the working set or repertoire name (such as Ext. C labelled by "C").

- (4). **Submission of Over-Unified or Mis-Unified Ideograph:** Submission of ideographs that are already mis-unified or over-unified within the current standard should follow the principles in Annex I of WG2 Principles and Procedures. The list of over-unified or mis-unified ideographs should be maintained by the IRG technical editor and made available as an IRG standing document.

Commented [h1]: Standing document series to be determined in IRG Meeting No. 32.

Commented [h2]: Serial number to To be confirmed in IRG Meeting No. 32.

2.2.2. Required Font to be Submitted

- a. **Glyph image** : Each proposed ideograph must be accompanied by a corresponding 128 x 128 bitmap file in Song or Ming style. The file name should be the same as the Source ID (defined below in Section 2.2.3.) with .bmp as its file extension.
- b. **TrueType font** (optional): TrueType Font availability is highly recommended although not necessary. Font specification can be found under point 5 of A.1. – Submitter's Responsibilities in Annex A, url: <http://std.dkuug.dk/jtc1/sc2/wg2/docs/principles.html>). The IRG at certain stage of project development will set a deadline for TrueType font submission.

2.2.3. Required Data to be Submitted

The following data for each proposed ideograph must be submitted with CSV (Comma Separated Value) text format (in UTF-8) or Microsoft Excel format file:

- a. **Source ID** to indicate the source and the name of the glyph image for tracking. ID should begin with a member body code (G,T,J,K,V,KP,H,M, MY, or U) followed by no more than 9 characters and should contain only Latin capital letters, Arabic numbers, and hyphens. See Annex D for details on information about member body code.

Commented [A3]: Section 27 of ISO10646

- b. **Glyph Image file name.** The glyph image file name of each glyph image must be the same as the source ID with file extension of `.bmp` in bitmap format.
- c. **KangXi Radical Code** from U+2F00 to U+2FD5 with an additional 0 or 1 to indicate a traditional character or simplified character, respectively.
- d. **Stroke Count** of the Non-radical Component (ref. IRG N 954 AR and IRG N 1105)..
- e. **Flag to show whether the ideograph is traditional (0) or simplified (1).**
- f. **First Stroke Code** of the Non-radical Component (ref. IRG N 954 AR and IRG N 1105).
- g. **Ideographic Description Sequence** (ref. IRGN 1183).
- h. **Similar Ideographs and Variant Ideographs** if available (identified by their code points in the standard in the form of U+xxxxx) or enter "No" if no known variants, leave it empty if not checked.
- i. **References to evidence document** including document number and page number.

Commented [h4]: Should it be png form?

Commented [h5]: Umma's comment: Consider making the material from IRG N954 AR and IRG N1105 in item f and IRGN 1183 in item g, as annexes to this IRG P&P document, for ease of reference for the user. It looks like the IDS was in Appendix C per item g in previous draft and has been removed !!

Commented [h6]: Umma's comment: One or more illustrative examples showing the correct use of various items from a to h in this section will be very useful .. either at the end of this section or as an Annex containing samples for submissions to help the proposers.]

2.2.4. Required Evidence to be Submitted

- a. **Supporting Evidence:** Evidence should be supplied to support the proposed glyph shape and the usage and context with pronunciations, meanings, etc., to convince the IRG that it is actually used or non-cognate with other similar ideographs. Evidence for each character must be supplied as scanned images.
- b. **Questionable Characters** (optional): For candidate ideographs with possible unification questions, submitters are encouraged to provide detailed evidence of use from authoritative sources, and relationships to other standardized ideographs or variants having similar shape or meaning encoded in UCS for review.
- c. **Avoidance of Derived Simplified Ideographs:** To avoid encoding derived simplified characters without grounds of actual use, submission of simplified ideographs requires the actual usage evidences. Providing only their corresponding traditional ideographs will not be considered evidences.

2.2.5. Required Summary Form to be Submitted

Each submission for an ideograph collection should be accompanied by a duly completed "Proposal Summary Form for Additions of CJK Unified Ideographs to the Repertoire of ISO/IEC 10646" (see **Annex F**).

2.2.6. Quality Assurance: The 5% rule

For any character encoding standard, a common general principle is to encode the same character once and only once. Before any submission, it is the submitter's responsibility to filter out the ideographs that are already in:

- the published standard,
- any of its published amendments,
- any of its amendments under ballot in JTC1/SC2,
- or,
- one of the working sets of IRG.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed ideograph for encoding, the IRG will evaluate the credibility and quality of the submitter's proposal. If the IRG finds more than 5% of duplicated characters in the in the above mentioned collections from the submitter's source set during the IRG review process, the whole submission will be removed from the subsequent IRG working drafts for that particular IRG project.

2.3. Principles on Production of IRG Working Drafts

After the IRG accepts submissions based on principles specified in Section 2.2, the IRG technical editor will produce a set of IRG working drafts.

2.3.1. Principles on Submitted Ideographs

- a. All the original ideograph submissions, including glyphs, IDS, radicals, stroke counts and evidence, must have registered IRG document numbers.

- b. If any required information is missing, the IRG chief editor or technical editor can ask for additional information from the submitter. Without timely supply of such information, the submission can be rejected by the technical editor for production of a working draft.

2.3.2. Principles on Assignment of Serial Number

- a. The IRG technical editor will consolidate and sort the submitted ideographs in accordance with Annex A of this document.
- b. A unique *serial number* will be assigned to each submitted ideograph after consolidation. The serial numbers must be unique throughout the entire standardization process. They must not be changed, re-set or re-assigned unless a split happens. This principle allows easy reference to past discussions. In case of a split, one ideograph will keep the original serial number and a new serial number will be assigned to the split ideograph.
- c. If ideographs submitted by different member bodies are obviously unifiable, such ideographs may be unified and assigned the same serial number by the IRG technical editor.

2.3.3. Principles on Machine-checking of IDS of Submitted Ideographs

- a. The IRG technical editor will check the submitted IDS with existing IDS data to detect possible unifiable or duplicated ideographs.
- b. Machine checking sometimes detects obviously non-unifiable pairs. Such cases, when detected, will be annotated before proceeding to the next stage.
- c. IDS checking algorithm will satisfy the requirements described in Annex B.

2.3.4. Production of IRG Working Drafts

- a. **Division of Character Subsets:** By the result of IDS checking, submitted ideographs will be grouped into the following two working sets:
 - i. **M-set (main set):** for ideographs with proper IDS, and found not to be unifiable with current standardized ideographs nor previously discussed ideographs with proper IDS.
 - ii. **D-set (discussion set):** for ideographs with missing, incomplete, or inconclusive IDS, or ideographs that might be unifiable with standardized or previously discussed ideographs. Ideographs with missing or incomplete IDS will be commented as such, and checked intensively through manual checking. Ideographs that might be unifiable with standardized or previously discussed ideographs will also be commented as such, and their suitability for unification must be manually checked and supported by evidence for dis-unification.
- b. **Naming of Working Drafts:** The file name should follow the format of "IRGNnnnnVX[XXX]" where *nnnn* is the IRG assigned document number and *X* is the version number. No space is allowed but use of underscore "_" for separation is allowed. Examples of version numbers are "ExtEV1.0", "V1.0Draft", etc.
- c. **Glyph Images:** Archive of consolidated glyph images whose image size should be 128x128 with file name using the Source ID with the extension *.bmp*.
- d. **Addition of Characters:** No ideographs should be added to the working set once the development process begins.
- e. **Alteration of Characters:** Generally speaking, alteration of characters indicates instability and any change may also impact on other characters in the collection. Thus it is generally not allowed. However, members may submit minor alteration of characters with provision of justification ONLY at the final stage as long as alteration is unifiable to the original. Change of glyph beyond the Annex S unification criteria is considered to be an addition of new character and is NOT acceptable at this stage. The submitter must provide the results of thorough checking and verifying that the alteration does not affect other characters in existing standards and working sets must be supplied. The IRG, based on its evaluation, may decide to accept the alteration, reject the alteration or request for the removal of such a character by the submitter. If the requester finds that the glyph of a character is wrong at any working stages, the character will be rejected by IRG and should be withdrawn by the submitter..
- f. **Previous D-Set:** If a previously discussed D-set exists, new D-set ideographs should be merged with the previous existing D-set.
- g. After consolidation, the IRG chief editor and technical editor may ask members to review M-set and D-set based on IRG review schedule and task division.

Commented [h7]: ?png? Add an example file name later

2.4. Principles on Reviewing IRG Working Drafts

If the IRG instructs member bodies to review a working draft, member bodies' editors should review it (different portions may be assigned to different member bodies) according to the agreed schedule and they should follow the principles set out below during the review process.

2.4.1. General Principles on Reviews

- a. Each member body should check the ideographs of the working sets assigned by the IRG chief editor and technical editor for the following issues:
 - i. Correctness of KangXi radical and KangXi Index, Stroke Count, Radical, First Stroke and IDS.
 - ii. Correctness of Glyphs and source information if necessary.
 - iii. Any duplicate or unifiable ideographs based on Annex S guidelines.
 - iv. Consistency of submitted characters with the submitted evidence and documentary proof.
- b. When any data, including IDS, KangXi radical, or stroke count is found to be incorrect, such M-set ideograph should be moved to D-set as its standing data is no longer valid. Until such ideograph is assured to be unique by manual checking (procedures described in Section 2.4.2. below), it should not be moved back to M-set.

2.4.2. Principles on Manual Checking

- a. **Duplication and Unification:** For D-set ideographs, members should ensure that they are not duplicates of or unified with any ideographs in the standard or in another working set (including the current one).
- b. **Radical Checking:** Assurance is done by enumerating all possible radicals of a target ideograph and looking for any duplicate or unifiable ideographs in the range of ± 2 stroke counts of standardized and working ideographs. For example, “聞” may have the radical of “門” with 6 strokes, or the radical of “耳” with 8 strokes. In such a case, checking standardized and working set ideographs with radical of “門” and 4-8 strokes, or ideographs with radical of “耳” and strokes of 6-10 manually can have much better assurance that such an ideograph does not have duplicate or unifiable ideographs.
- c. **Recording of Review Results:** After reviewing, the reviewer should record the comment of “Checked against all standardized and working ideographs with radical X and stroke of Y \pm 2.”

2.4.3. Submission of Possibly Unifiable Ideographs

- a. **Preparation of Comments:** Member bodies should prepare comments and feedback with reference to the assigned serial number of the ideograph in question. The guidelines on comments are described in Section 4 of this document. Comment files should be in CSV form as a text file or a Microsoft Excel format file. All comment files must have pre-assigned IRG document numbers.
- b. **Additional Evidence and Arguments:** For each proposed ideograph in the D-set that has been questioned for possible Unification, the submitter should prepare arguments with further evidence of its use and further evidence (for example, in dictionaries, legal documents or other publications) showing that it is not unifiable with another standardized ideograph or an ideograph proposed in the same or another working draft.
- c. **Submission Deadline:** Each member body will send feedback comments at least two months before the next IRG meeting. The IRG chief editor and technical editor will consolidate them and register the result as IRG N documents a month before the next IRG meeting so that each member body can examine the comments and prepare any additional documents for discussion at the meeting.
- d. **Rejection:** Questioned ideographs with no counter arguments in support of dis-unification supplied to the meeting will be automatically marked as unified.

2.5. Principles on Discussions at IRG Meetings

2.5.1. Document-based Discussion

For efficient and smooth work, all discussion items and evidence must be prepared with registered IRG documents before the commencement of an IRG meeting. Items or evidence that are not contained in an IRG registered document are not treated as evidence and will not be discussed during IRG meetings. Any discussions on evidence or items raised after the commencement of an

IRG meeting may be postponed to the next IRG meeting if any member body requests longer time to examine such items or evidence.

2.5.2. Discussion Procedures

Discussion will be based on the review comments on working sets. For non-unification issues, a submitter should present evidence document(s) showing that suspected unifiable ideographs are distinctively used as non-cognate character in the same region, or that these two characters cannot be unified in accordance with Annex S. When IRG members have consensus that the ideographs are unifiable, the submitter should take one of the following actions, and the decision must be recorded.

- a. Withdraw the duplicate ideograph and map the character in question to the existing standardized or working set ideograph.
- b. Submit it as compatibility character.
- c. Add a new source reference to the existing standardized or working set ideograph.

When characters are reviewed by different people, different choices of radical, stroke count or first stroke code are possible for the same ideograph. IRG members should resolve to agree on the most appropriate one based on the commonest abstract shape of the specific glyph. When KangXi radical or stroke count is found to be incorrect, the ideographs will be moved to D-set and wait for another manual review to prevent any unification error caused by not having conducted the review with ideographs having the correct KangXi radical or stroke count.

Guidelines on typical comments and resolutions are given in Section 4 of this document.

2.5.3. Recording of Discussions

Comments, rationales, and decisions must be recorded for each ideograph reviewed in a tabular format for reference and checking.

2.5.4. Time and Quality Management

Before discussion begins, the number of ideographs under review will be counted and the estimated schedule will be determined based on it. During the discussion, the number of comments reviewed per hour will be noted and the schedule will be adjusted by this rate (Note: It is recognized that some comments may take longer than others to discuss and resolve). If the comments cannot be handled in one IRG meeting, they may be partitioned and resolved in subsequent IRG meetings. Due to the limited time CJK Editorial Group has to deal with individual characters during an IRG meeting, member bodies can use emails to discuss and reach agreement on simple, straightforward cases before and after an IRG meeting.

2.6. Principles on Submission of Ideographs to WG2

2.6.1. Checking of Stabilized M-Set

- a. Once M-set is consolidated and stabilized, the ideographs of M-set will be checked intensively as a complete set at least once to ensure data and glyph integrity.
- b. Approval by member bodies by majority is needed before the set can be prepared for WG2 submission.

2.6.2. Preparation for WG2 Submission

After the approval by majority of IRG member bodies, the IRG technical editor will prepare the proposal to be forwarded to WG2. The preparation includes the followings:

- a. Sort the final stable M-set ideographs by the sorting algorithm described in Annex A.
- b. Assign provisional UCS code positions to the sorted M-set ideographs (with agreement from ISO 10646 project editor on block assignment).
- c. Make available the TrueType fonts for each member body with assigned provisional UCS code positions (fonts have to be available in accordance with the requirement stated in point 5 of A.1. – Submitter's Responsibilities in Annex A, WG2 Principles and Procedures)
 - i. Each submitter is encouraged to prepare and submit its own font for best font quality.

- ii. If a submitter has difficulty creating the font, other member bodies or the IRG technical editor may help creating the font. In this case, the glyph style of the submitter must be respected.
- iii. If the submitter cannot provide the TrueType font by this time, the collection by the submitter will be withdrawn from this collection.
- d. Prepare a list of source references
- e. Produce a packed Multi-column Ideograph Chart using the TrueType fonts.

The IRG will conduct at least one round of review of the proposal and the chart generated using TrueType font before submission to WG2.

3. Procedures

This section describes the basic development procedures of CJK Unified Ideograph extensions. The ultimate purpose of the procedures outlined in this section is to realize the production of high quality CJK Unified Ideograph sets in an efficient manner.

Development procedures described in this section consists of 8 stages, and it may take two to three years to create a high quality ideograph set for standardization.

3.1. Call for Submission

- a. When a member body requests a new project for CJK Unified Ideograph extension and when the project is agreed upon at an IRG meeting, the IRG may call for submission of new ideographs. The IRG will also determine the deadline for the submission.
- b. Each member body with proposed ideographs must submit the ideographs before the specified deadline with required data described in Section 2 of this document.
- c. Member bodies must check whether the submitted ideographs are accompanied with all required information. If some required information is missing or misplaced, the IRG technical editor may ask the submitter to resubmit or supply the additional information if only minor problems are encountered. Otherwise, the submission can be rejected because consolidation with other member bodies' submissions cannot be carried out.

3.2. Consolidation and Grouping of Submitted Ideographs

Consolidation of submissions is normally done between IRG meetings. The consolidation includes the following tasks:

- a. The IRG technical editor will sort and assign *serial numbers* to submitted ideographs as described in Section 2.3.2.
- b. After serial numbers are assigned, submitted ideographs must undergo IDS checking to detect any duplication and unification. By the result of IDS checking as described in Section 2.3.3, submitted ideographs will be grouped into M-set and D-set as described in Section 2.3.4.
- c. After consolidation, a working draft will be assigned an IRG N document number with a version number, and will be distributed to member bodies' editors and made available on the official website of the IRG so that any other experts can have access to it. The IRG chief editor and technical editor may ask and assign member editors to check M-set and D-set ideographs either for the entire collection or certain portions of it depending on reasonable estimation of workload by the IRG chief editor and technical editor.

3.3. First Checking Stage

This stage, which is between IRG meetings, involves the following tasks:

- a. Each member body's editor must check the assigned M-set and D-set for data integrity, correctness, missing data and duplication. Checking for unification is not mandatory, but desirable. Typical review comment examples for each set are provided in Section 4.
- b. Members must submit their comments to the IRG chief editor and technical editor at least two months before the next IRG meeting.

- c. The IRG chief editor and technical editor must consolidate the comments and produce an IRG registered document for circulation and discussion at least one month before the next IRG meeting.
- d. Submitters are encouraged to prepare and submit supplementary documents (with IRG document numbers) so that they can be discussed at the next IRG meeting.

3.4. First Discussion and Conclusion Stage

This stage, which is during an IRG meeting, includes the following tasks:

- a. Members should review the comments which are officially submitted before the meeting with assigned IRG document numbers and the editorial group must make conclusions for each commented ideograph in writing. Guidelines for typical conclusion are provided in Section 4.
- b. All the conclusions must be agreed to and endorsed by the IRG plenary in its resolutions. As a result of resolution, some ideographs would be removed or moved between M-set and D-Set.
- c. The IRG technical editor will create a new M-set and D-set a month after the IRG meeting, and register them as IRG registered document with version information.
- d. If more than 5% of ideographs submitted by a specific submitter is removed as a result of duplication or unification with existing standardized set, the entire submission of this submitter will be removed to ensure high quality of the project. This known as the 5% Rule described in Section 2.2.6 above.

3.5. Second Checking Stage

This stage, which is between IRG meetings, involves the following tasks:

- a. Each member body's editor must check the newly created M-set and D-set for correctness and any duplication.
- b. Members should submit their comments with registered IRG document number to the IRG chief editor and technical editor at least two months before the next IRG meeting.
- c. The IRG chief editor and technical editor will consolidate the comments and produce a registered IRG document for circulation and discussion at least a month before the next IRG meeting.
- d. Members are encouraged to prepare and submit supplementary documents to facilitate discussion during the next IRG meeting.

3.6. Second Consolidation and Conclusion Stage

This stage, which is during an IRG meeting, includes the following tasks:

- a. Members must review the comments and make conclusion for each ideograph. Typical comment and conclusion examples for each set are provided in Section 4.
- b. All the conclusions must be agreed to and endorsed by the IRG plenary in its resolutions. As a result of the resolutions, some ideographs may be removed or moved between M-set and D-set.
- c. The IRG technical editor will create a new M-set and D-set a month after the IRG meeting, and produce an IRG registered document.
- d. If more than 5% of ideographs submitted by a specific submitter is removed as a result of duplication or unification with existing standardized set, the entire submission of this submitter will be removed to ensure high quality of the project.

3.7. Final Checking Stage

This stage, which is between IRG meetings, involves the following tasks:

- a. All member bodies' editors are requested to check M-set intensively based on comments and conclusions made in all previous stages. In the final checking stage, no ideographs are allowed to be moved from D-set to M-set.
- b. Member bodies' editors must submit their comments to the IRG chief editor and technical editor at least two months before the next IRG meeting.
- c. The IRG chief editor and technical editor will consolidate the comments and produce an IRG registered document for circulation and discussion at least a month before the next IRG meeting.

meeting so that member bodies' editors can have time to review them before the next IRG meeting.

3.8. Approval and Submission to WG2

This stage, which is during an IRG meeting, involves the following tasks:

- a. Members should review the comments on M-set and make conclusion for each ideograph.
- b. If there is no positive decision on an M-set ideograph, it will be moved to D-set. No character will be moved from D-set to M-set at this stage. Ideographs may only be moved from M-set to D-set.
- c. With the approval from the majority of IRG member bodies, M-set will be frozen as the new ideograph extension set to be submitted to WG2. The IRG technical editor will prepare the document in accordance with Section 2.6 of this document.
- d. The remaining D-set ideographs will not be removed. They will be kept and used in the next standardization work. To avoid repetition of discussion of previously checked ideographs, the discussion record will be maintained for future reference.

4. Guidelines for Comments and Resolutions on Working Sets

The following tables list guidelines for typical comments and conclusions during the development process. All comments must be accompanied with date (in YY-MM-DD format) and member identifier (G, T, H, M, J, K, KP, MY, U or V). All conclusions must also be dated.

4.1. Guidelines for M-set

M-set is the ultimate target of the standardized ideograph set. As such, it must be carefully examined. If any suspicious characters are found, they will be moved to D-sets or removed from the working sets altogether.

Possible Comment by a Reviewer	Possible Resolution
Wrong or Missing Glyph	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Glyph is corrected, or the missing glyph is supplied. The ideograph is moved to D-set for manual checking.
Wrong KangXi radical / strokes count / first stroke	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Data will be corrected and this Ideograph will be moved to D-set for further manual checking.
Wrong IDS	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● IDS will be corrected and the character will be moved to D-set until they are checked again by the IDS checker.● Moved to D-set (in case IDS cannot be corrected.)
May be unifiable with U+xxxxx (standardized ideograph)	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Unified with U+xxxx and requester will request new Source ID to U+xxxx.● Unified with U+xxxx and requester will request that this character be treated as Compatibility Ideograph.● Unified to U+xxxx and this entry will be removed. (May consider to register it to IVS.)● Not unifiable.
May be unifiable with xxxxx (M-set ideograph)	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Unified with xxxxx and this source ID will be attached to xxxxx.● Unified with xxxxx and the requester may consider it to registering it as Compatibility Character or IVS.● Not Unifiable.

4.2 Guidelines for D-set

D-set ideographs are the ones that either cannot be checked automatically by IDS checking algorithm or the ones that are suspected to be unifiable with other standardized or working ideographs. For the ideographs that cannot be machine-checked by IDS matching, at least two non-requester members must check them manually to ensure that the ideographs are not unifiable with any standardized ideograph or working ideograph. For the ideographs that might be unifiable with other ideographs, a submitter is requested to prepare arguments and evidence to show that such ideographs should be separately encoded.

Possible Comment by IDS Checker	Possible Conclusion
<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Incomplete IDS● IDS with extra character.● Component is not an ideograph	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● IDS will be corrected and it will be moved to M-set when next IDS-check is done.● Proper IDS cannot be generated and manual checking is needed.
Possible Comment by a Reviewer	Possible Conclusion
<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Wrong KangXi radical● Stroke count● First stroke	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Data will be corrected.● Proposal to correct data is not accepted, as it is an ambiguous case and the IRG agrees that the previous choice of XX is more appropriate.
<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Wrong IDS	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● IDS will be corrected and will be checked by the IDS checker again.● Correct IDS cannot be generated and manual checking is needed.
May be unifiable with U+xxxxx (standardized ideograph)	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Unified with U+xxxxx and new source is added to U+xxxxx. Entry is no longer used.● Not unifiable, as shown by the evidence IRG N xxxx. Moved to M-set.
May be unifiable with xxxxx (M-set or D-set Ideograph)	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Unified with xxxxx and this entry is no longer used.● Unified with xxxxx. (xxxxx is removed.)● Not unifiable, as shown by the evidence IRG N xxxx. Move to M-set
Checked against all standardized and working ideographs with radical X and stroke of Y±2.	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Moved to M-set, as two non-submitter members (XX and YY) confirmed that this ideograph is not unifiable with any existing standardized or working ideographs.● Checking against ideographs with radical X may not be enough. This ideograph will also be checked against ideographs with radical Z.

5. IRG Website

The IRG maintains its own web site at <http://www.cse.cuhk.edu.hk/~irg/>, hosted by the Department of Computer Science and Engineering at the Chinese University of Hong Kong. IRG meeting notices, minutes, resolutions, document register, documents and standing documents are made available at this site. Hyperlinks to WG2 websites will be provided for member bodies' easy access. For faster retrieval of documents and searching, documents should not be compressed as far as possible and the site search engine window should be made available. Documents larger than 4MB must be split into multiple files for easy uploading, downloading and searching. The compressed files must be in WinZip format with .zip extension.

6. IRG Document Registration

All documents to be formally discussed by the IRG must be registered with assigned IRG document numbers(assigned by IRG Rapporteur) and containing submission date, title, submitting member body, or the author, purpose (or summary), and the 'IRG Ideographic Repertoire Submission Summary Form' (when applicable).

6.1. Registration Procedures

The following gives the registration procedures:

- a. **Request for Document Number:** All documents submitted to the IRG must be given a registered document number. The assignment is done by the IRG Rapporteur. A member body will first contact the IRG Rapporteur for a document number with a document title. Once the document number is assigned, the information will be posted on the IRG website. Some document numbers can be pre-assigned during IRG meetings for activities between IRG meetings.
- b. **Submission of Documents:** All registered documents must be submitted to the IRG Rapporteur. The submitted documents must also contain an assigned IRG document number in text form so that searching can be supported.
- c. **Posting of Documents:** Properly submitted documents are then posted by the IRG Rapporteur on the IRG website as official documents.
- d. **Disqualified Documents:** Documents with certain basic information missing such as submitter's name, title and purpose may be rejected by the IRG Rapporteur for posting. All other documents which fail to comply with the above registration process and the preliminary review by the IRG Rapporteur for basic information will not be treated as IRG documents. As such, issues to be addressed contained in such documents will not be discussed by the IRG formally.

6.2. Contact for IRG Document Registration

The current IRG rapporteur is Dr. Qin LU and her contact information is as follows:

Professor Qin Lu
Department of Computing
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
Hung Hom, Hong Kong
Tel. (852) 2766 7247
Fax. (852) 2774 0842
Email: csluqin@comp.polyu.edu.hk

Annex A: Sorting Algorithm of Ideographs

Ideographs must be sorted by the following order.

a. **KangXi Radical order.**

Note: When radicals are in simplified forms given below, ideographs with simplified radicals must be placed after the ideographs with corresponding traditional radicals.

Simplified Radicals		Traditional Radicals	
R119. 1	纟	R119. 0	糸
R146. 1	见	R146. 0	見
R148. 1	讠	R148. 0	言
R153. 1	贝	R153. 0	貝
R158. 1	车	R158. 0	車
R166. 1	钅	R166. 0	金
R167. 1	长	R167. 0	長
R168. 1	门	R168. 0	門
R177. 1	韦	R177. 0	韋
R180. 1	页	R180. 0	頁
R181. 1	风	R181. 0	風
R182. 1	飞	R182. 0	飛
R183. 1	饣	R183. 0	食
R186. 1	马	R186. 0	馬
R194. 1	鱼	R194. 0	魚
R195. 1	鸟	R195. 0	鳥
R196. 1	卤	R196. 0	鹵
R198. 1	麦	R198. 0	麥
R204. 1	黾	R204. 0	黽
R209. 1	齐	R209. 0	齊
R210. 1	齿	R210. 0	齒
R211. 1	龙	R211. 0	龍

b. **Stroke Count.**

Note: Simplified characters must be placed after traditional characters within the same stroke-number group.

c. **First stroke.**

Commented [h8]: Examples to be added later.

Annex B: IDS Matching

B.1. Guidelines on Creation of IDS

Each member body should consult IRGN1183 on IDS creation finalized at IRG Meeting No. 25. The use of “overlapping” IDC or more than four IDCs is considered to be ‘inappropriate’ and may not be a subject of IDS comparison.

B.2. Requirements on IDS Matching

The IDS matching algorithm used by the IRG should support the following features:

1. IDS matching should be able to handle different split points.
(e.g. 𐤀𐤁𐤂 and 𐤀𐤂𐤁 should be matched.)
2. IDS matching should be able to handle different split levels.
(e.g. 𐤀𐤁𐤂 and 𐤀𐤁𐤂𐤃𐤄𐤅𐤆𐤇𐤈𐤉𐤊𐤋𐤌𐤍𐤎𐤏𐤐𐤑𐤒𐤓𐤔𐤕𐤖𐤗𐤘𐤙𐤚𐤛𐤜𐤝𐤞𐤟𐤠𐤡𐤢𐤣𐤤𐤥𐤦𐤧𐤨𐤩𐤪𐤫𐤬𐤭𐤮𐤯𐤰𐤱𐤲𐤳𐤴𐤵𐤶𐤷𐤸𐤹𐤺𐤻𐤼𐤽𐤾𐤿𐥀𐥁𐥂𐥃𐥄𐥅𐥆𐥇𐥈𐥉𐥊𐥋𐥌𐥍𐥎𐥏𐥐𐥑𐥒𐥓𐥔𐥕𐥖𐥗𐥘𐥙𐥚𐥛𐥜𐥝𐥞𐥟𐥠𐥡𐥢𐥣𐥤𐥥𐥦𐥧𐥨𐥩𐥪𐥫𐥬𐥭𐥮𐥯𐥰𐥱𐥲𐥳𐥴𐥵𐥶𐥷𐥸𐥹𐥺𐥻𐥼𐥽𐥾𐥿𐦀𐦁𐦂𐦃𐦄𐦅𐦆𐦇𐦈𐦉𐦊𐦋𐦌𐦍𐦎𐦏𐦐𐦑𐦒𐦓𐦔𐦕𐦖𐦗𐦘𐦙𐦚𐦛𐦜𐦝𐦞𐦟𐦠𐦡𐦢𐦣𐦤𐦥𐦦𐦧𐦨𐦩𐦪𐦫𐦬𐦭𐦮𐦯𐦰𐦱𐦲𐦳𐦴𐦵𐦶𐦷𐦸𐦹𐦺𐦻𐦼𐦽𐦾𐦿𐧀𐧁𐧂𐧃𐧄𐧅𐧆𐧇𐧈𐧉𐧊𐧋𐧌𐧍𐧎𐧏𐧐𐧑𐧒𐧓𐧔𐧕𐧖𐧗𐧘𐧙𐧚𐧛𐧜𐧝𐧞𐧟𐧠𐧡𐧢𐧣𐧤𐧥𐧦𐧧𐧨𐧩𐧪𐧫𐧬𐧭𐧮𐧯𐧰𐧱𐧲𐧳𐧴𐧵𐧶𐧷𐧸𐧹𐧺𐧻𐧼𐧽𐧾𐧿𐨀𐨁𐨂𐨃𐨄𐨅𐨆𐨇𐨈𐨉𐨊𐨋𐨌𐨍𐨎𐨏𐨐𐨑𐨒𐨓𐨔𐨕𐨖𐨗𐨘𐨙𐨚𐨛𐨜𐨝𐨞𐨟𐨠𐨡𐨢𐨣𐨤𐨥𐨦𐨧𐨨𐨩𐨪𐨫𐨬𐨭𐨮𐨯𐨰𐨱𐨲𐨳𐨴𐨵𐨶𐨷𐨹𐨺𐨸𐨻𐨼𐨽𐨾𐨿𐩀𐩁𐩂𐩃𐩄𐩅𐩆𐩇𐩈𐩉𐩊𐩋𐩌𐩍𐩎𐩏𐩐𐩑𐩒𐩓𐩔𐩕𐩖𐩗𐩘𐩙𐩚𐩛𐩜𐩝𐩞𐩟𐩠𐩡𐩢𐩣𐩤𐩥𐩦𐩧𐩨𐩩𐩪𐩫𐩬𐩭𐩮𐩯𐩰𐩱𐩲𐩳𐩴𐩵𐩶𐩷𐩸𐩹𐩺𐩻𐩼𐩽𐩾𐩿𐪀𐪁𐪂𐪃𐪄𐪅𐪆𐪇𐪈𐪉𐪊𐪋𐪌𐪍𐪎𐪏𐪐𐪑𐪒𐪓𐪔𐪕𐪖𐪗𐪘𐪙𐪚𐪛𐪜𐪝𐪞𐪟𐪠𐪡𐪢𐪣𐪤𐪥𐪦𐪧𐪨𐪩𐪪𐪫𐪬𐪭𐪮𐪯𐪰𐪱𐪲𐪳𐪴𐪵𐪶𐪷𐪸𐪹𐪺𐪻𐪼𐪽𐪾𐪿𐫀𐫁𐫂𐫃𐫄𐫅𐫆𐫇𐫈𐫉𐫊𐫋𐫌𐫍𐫎𐫏𐫐𐫑𐫒𐫓𐫔𐫕𐫖𐫗𐫘𐫙𐫚𐫛𐫜𐫝𐫞𐫟𐫠𐫡𐫢𐫣𐫤𐫦𐫥𐫧𐫨𐫩𐫪𐫫𐫬𐫭𐫮𐫯𐫰𐫱𐫲𐫳𐫴𐫵𐫶𐫷𐫸𐫹𐫺𐫻𐫼𐫽𐫾𐫿𐬀𐬁𐬂𐬃𐬄𐬅𐬆𐬇𐬈𐬉𐬊𐬋𐬌𐬍𐬎𐬏𐬐𐬑𐬒𐬓𐬔𐬕𐬖𐬗𐬘𐬙𐬚𐬛𐬜𐬝𐬞𐬟𐬠𐬡𐬢𐬣𐬤𐬥𐬦𐬧𐬨𐬩𐬪𐬫𐬬𐬭𐬮𐬯𐬰𐬱𐬲𐬳𐬴𐬵𐬶𐬷𐬸𐬹𐬺𐬻𐬼𐬽𐬾𐬿𐭀𐭁𐭂𐭃𐭄𐭅𐭆𐭇𐭈𐭉𐭊𐭋𐭌𐭍𐭎𐭏𐭐𐭑𐭒𐭓𐭔𐭕𐭖𐭗𐭘𐭙𐭚𐭛𐭜𐭝𐭞𐭟𐭠𐭡𐭢𐭣𐭤𐭥𐭦𐭧𐭨𐭩𐭪𐭫𐭬𐭭𐭮𐭯𐭰𐭱𐭲𐭳𐭴𐭵𐭶𐭷𐭸𐭹𐭺𐭻𐭼𐭽𐭾𐭿𐮀𐮁𐮂𐮃𐮄𐮅𐮆𐮇𐮈𐮉𐮊𐮋𐮌𐮍𐮎𐮏𐮐𐮑𐮒𐮓𐮔𐮕𐮖𐮗𐮘𐮙𐮚𐮛𐮜𐮝𐮞𐮟𐮠𐮡𐮢𐮣𐮤𐮥𐮦𐮧𐮨𐮩𐮪𐮫𐮬𐮭𐮮𐮯𐮰𐮱𐮲𐮳𐮴𐮵𐮶𐮷𐮸𐮹𐮺𐮻𐮼𐮽𐮾𐮿𐯀𐯁𐯂𐯃𐯄𐯅𐯆𐯇𐯈𐯉𐯊𐯋𐯌𐯍𐯎𐯏𐯐𐯑𐯒𐯓𐯔𐯕𐯖𐯗𐯘𐯙𐯚𐯛𐯜𐯝𐯞𐯟𐯠𐯡𐯢𐯣𐯤𐯥𐯦𐯧𐯨𐯩𐯪𐯫𐯬𐯭𐯮𐯯𐯰𐯱𐯲𐯳𐯴𐯵𐯶𐯷𐯸𐯹𐯺𐯻𐯼𐯽𐯾𐯿𐰀𐰁𐰂𐰃𐰄𐰅𐰆𐰇𐰈𐰉𐰊𐰋𐰌𐰍𐰎𐰏𐰐𐰑𐰒𐰓𐰔𐰕𐰖𐰗𐰘𐰙𐰚𐰛𐰜𐰝𐰞𐰟𐰠𐰡𐰢𐰣𐰤𐰥𐰦𐰧𐰨𐰩𐰪𐰫𐰬𐰭𐰮𐰯𐰰𐰱𐰲𐰳𐰴𐰵𐰶𐰷𐰸𐰹𐰺𐰻𐰼𐰽𐰾𐰿𐱀𐱁𐱂𐱃𐱄𐱅𐱆𐱇𐱈𐱉𐱊𐱋𐱌𐱍𐱎𐱏𐱐𐱑𐱒𐱓𐱔𐱕𐱖𐱗𐱘𐱙𐱚𐱛𐱜𐱝𐱞𐱟𐱠𐱡𐱢𐱣𐱤𐱥𐱦𐱧𐱨𐱩𐱪𐱫𐱬𐱭𐱮𐱯𐱰𐱱𐱲𐱳𐱴𐱵𐱶𐱷𐱸𐱹𐱺𐱻𐱼𐱽𐱾𐱿𐲀𐲁𐲂𐲃𐲄𐲅𐲆𐲇𐲈𐲉𐲊𐲋𐲌𐲍𐲎𐲏𐲐𐲑𐲒𐲓𐲔𐲕𐲖𐲗𐲘𐲙𐲚𐲛𐲜𐲝𐲞𐲟𐲠𐲡𐲢𐲣𐲤𐲥𐲦𐲧𐲨𐲩𐲪𐲫𐲬𐲭𐲮𐲯𐲰𐲱𐲲𐲳𐲴𐲵𐲶𐲷𐲸𐲹𐲺𐲻𐲼𐲽𐲾𐲿𐳀𐳁𐳂𐳃𐳄𐳅𐳆𐳇𐳈𐳉𐳊𐳋𐳌𐳍𐳎𐳏𐳐𐳑𐳒𐳓𐳔𐳕𐳖𐳗𐳘𐳙𐳚𐳛𐳜𐳝𐳞𐳟𐳠𐳡𐳢𐳣𐳤𐳥𐳦𐳧𐳨𐳩𐳪𐳫𐳬𐳭𐳮𐳯𐳰𐳱𐳲𐳳𐳴𐳵𐳶𐳷𐳸𐳹𐳺𐳻𐳼𐳽𐳾𐳿𐴀𐴁𐴂𐴃𐴄𐴅𐴆𐴇𐴈𐴉𐴊𐴋𐴌𐴍𐴎𐴏𐴐𐴑𐴒𐴓𐴔𐴕𐴖𐴗𐴘𐴙𐴚𐴛𐴜𐴝𐴞𐴟𐴠𐴡𐴢𐴣𐴤𐴥𐴦𐴧𐴨𐴩𐴪𐴫𐴬𐴭𐴮𐴯𐴰𐴱𐴲𐴳𐴴𐴵𐴶𐴷𐴸𐴹𐴺𐴻𐴼𐴽𐴾𐴿𐵀𐵁𐵂𐵃𐵄𐵅𐵆𐵇𐵈𐵉𐵊𐵋𐵌𐵍𐵎𐵏𐵐𐵑𐵒𐵓𐵔𐵕𐵖𐵗𐵘𐵙𐵚𐵛𐵜𐵝𐵞𐵟𐵠𐵡𐵢𐵣𐵤𐵥𐵦𐵧𐵨𐵩𐵪𐵫𐵬𐵭𐵮𐵯𐵰𐵱𐵲𐵳𐵴𐵵𐵶𐵷𐵸𐵹𐵺𐵻𐵼𐵽𐵾𐵿𐶀𐶁𐶂𐶃𐶄𐶅𐶆𐶇𐶈𐶉𐶊𐶋𐶌𐶍𐶎𐶏𐶐𐶑𐶒𐶓𐶔𐶕𐶖𐶗𐶘𐶙𐶚𐶛𐶜𐶝𐶞𐶟𐶠𐶡𐶢𐶣𐶤𐶥𐶦𐶧𐶨𐶩𐶪𐶫𐶬𐶭𐶮𐶯𐶰𐶱𐶲𐶳𐶴𐶵𐶶𐶷𐶸𐶹𐶺𐶻𐶼𐶽𐶾𐶿𐷀𐷁𐷂𐷃𐷄𐷅𐷆𐷇𐷈𐷉𐷊𐷋𐷌𐷍𐷎𐷏𐷐𐷑𐷒𐷓𐷔𐷕𐷖𐷗𐷘𐷙𐷚𐷛𐷜𐷝𐷞𐷟𐷠𐷡𐷢𐷣𐷤𐷥𐷦𐷧𐷨𐷩𐷪𐷫𐷬𐷭𐷮𐷯𐷰𐷱𐷲𐷳𐷴𐷵𐷶𐷷𐷸𐷹𐷺𐷻𐷼𐷽𐷾𐷿𐸀𐸁𐸂𐸃𐸄𐸅𐸆𐸇𐸈𐸉𐸊𐸋𐸌𐸍𐸎𐸏𐸐𐸑𐸒𐸓𐸔𐸕𐸖𐸗𐸘𐸙𐸚𐸛𐸜𐸝𐸞𐸟𐸠𐸡𐸢𐸣𐸤𐸥𐸦𐸧𐸨𐸩𐸪𐸫𐸬𐸭𐸮𐸯𐸰𐸱𐸲𐸳𐸴𐸵𐸶𐸷𐸸𐸹𐸺𐸻𐸼𐸽𐸾𐸿𐹀𐹁𐹂𐹃𐹄𐹅𐹆𐹇𐹈𐹉𐹊𐹋𐹌𐹍𐹎𐹏𐹐𐹑𐹒𐹓𐹔𐹕𐹖𐹗𐹘𐹙𐹚𐹛𐹜𐹝𐹞𐹟𐹠𐹡𐹢𐹣𐹤𐹥𐹦𐹧𐹨𐹩𐹪𐹫𐹬𐹭𐹮𐹯𐹰𐹱𐹲𐹳𐹴𐹵𐹶𐹷𐹸𐹹𐹺𐹻𐹼𐹽𐹾𐹿𐺀𐺁𐺂𐺃𐺄𐺅𐺆𐺇𐺈𐺉𐺊𐺋𐺌𐺍𐺎𐺏𐺐𐺑𐺒𐺓𐺔𐺕𐺖𐺗𐺘𐺙𐺚𐺛𐺜𐺝𐺞𐺟𐺠𐺡𐺢𐺣𐺤𐺥𐺦𐺧𐺨𐺩𐺪𐺫𐺬𐺭𐺮𐺯𐺰𐺱𐺲𐺳𐺴𐺵𐺶𐺷𐺸𐺹𐺺𐺻𐺼𐺽𐺾𐺿𐻀𐻁𐻂𐻃𐻄𐻅𐻆𐻇𐻈𐻉𐻊𐻋𐻌𐻍𐻎𐻏𐻐𐻑𐻒𐻓𐻔𐻕𐻖𐻗𐻘𐻙𐻚𐻛𐻜𐻝𐻞𐻟𐻠𐻡𐻢𐻣𐻤𐻥𐻦𐻧𐻨𐻩𐻪𐻫𐻬𐻭𐻮𐻯𐻰𐻱𐻲𐻳𐻴𐻵𐻶𐻷𐻸𐻹𐻺𐻻𐻼𐻽𐻾𐻿𐼀𐼁𐼂𐼃𐼄𐼅𐼆𐼇𐼈𐼉𐼊𐼋𐼌𐼍𐼎𐼏𐼐𐼑𐼒𐼓𐼔𐼕𐼖𐼗𐼘𐼙𐼚𐼛𐼜𐼝𐼞𐼟𐼠𐼡𐼢𐼣𐼤𐼥𐼦𐼧𐼨𐼩𐼪𐼫𐼬𐼭𐼮𐼯𐼰𐼱𐼲𐼳𐼴𐼵𐼶𐼷𐼸𐼹𐼺𐼻𐼼𐼽𐼾𐼿𐽀𐽁𐽂𐽃𐽄𐽅𐽆𐽇𐽋𐽍𐽎𐽏𐽐𐽈𐽉𐽊𐽌𐽑𐽒𐽓𐽔𐽕𐽖𐽗𐽘𐽙𐽚𐽛𐽜𐽝𐽞𐽟𐽠𐽡𐽢𐽣𐽤𐽥𐽦𐽧𐽨𐽩𐽪𐽫𐽬𐽭𐽮𐽯𐽰𐽱𐽲𐽳𐽴𐽵𐽶𐽷𐽸𐽹𐽺𐽻𐽼𐽽𐽾𐽿𐾀𐾁𐾃𐾅𐾂𐾄𐾆𐾇𐾈𐾉𐾊𐾋𐾌𐾍𐾎𐾏𐾐𐾑𐾒𐾓𐾔𐾕𐾖𐾗𐾘𐾙𐾚𐾛𐾜𐾝𐾞𐾟𐾠𐾡𐾢𐾣𐾤𐾥𐾦𐾧𐾨𐾩𐾪𐾫𐾬𐾭𐾮𐾯𐾰𐾱𐾲𐾳𐾴𐾵𐾶𐾷𐾸𐾹𐾺𐾻𐾼𐾽𐾾𐾿𐿀𐿁𐿂𐿃𐿄𐿅𐿆𐿇𐿈𐿉𐿊𐿋𐿌𐿍𐿎𐿏𐿐𐿑𐿒𐿓𐿔𐿕𐿖𐿗𐿘𐿙𐿚𐿛𐿜𐿝𐿞𐿟𐿠𐿡𐿢𐿣𐿤𐿥𐿦𐿧𐿨𐿩𐿪𐿫𐿬𐿭𐿮𐿯𐿰𐿱𐿲𐿳𐿴𐿵𐿶𐿷𐿸𐿹𐿺𐿻𐿼𐿽𐿾𐿿𐀀𐀁𐀂𐀃𐀄𐀅𐀆𐀇𐀈𐀉𐀊𐀋𐀌𐀍𐀎𐀏𐀐𐀑𐀒𐀓𐀔𐀕𐀖𐀗𐀘𐀙𐀚𐀛𐀜𐀝𐀞𐀟𐀠𐀡𐀢𐀣𐀤𐀥𐀦𐀧𐀨𐀩𐀪𐀫𐀬𐀭𐀮𐀯𐀰𐀱𐀲𐀳𐀴𐀵𐀶𐀷𐀸𐀹𐀺𐀻𐀼𐀽𐀾𐀿𐁀𐁁𐁂𐁃𐁄𐁅𐁆𐁇𐁈𐁉𐁊𐁋𐁌𐁍𐁎𐁏𐁐𐁑𐁒𐁓𐁔𐁕𐁖𐁗𐁘𐁙𐁚𐁛𐁜𐁝𐁞𐁟𐁠𐁡𐁢𐁣𐁤𐁥𐁦𐁧𐁨𐁩𐁪𐁫𐁬𐁭𐁮𐁯𐁰𐁱𐁲𐁳𐁴𐁵𐁶𐁷𐁸𐁹𐁺𐁻𐁼𐁽𐁾𐁿𐂀𐂁𐂂𐂃𐂄𐂅𐂆𐂇𐂈𐂉𐂊𐂋𐂌𐂍𐂎𐂏𐂐𐂑𐂒𐂓𐂔𐂕𐂖𐂗𐂘𐂙𐂚𐂛𐂜𐂝𐂞𐂟𐂠𐂡𐂢𐂣𐂤𐂥𐂦𐂧𐂨𐂩𐂪𐂫𐂬𐂭𐂮𐂯𐂰𐂱𐂲𐂳𐂴𐂵𐂶𐂷𐂸𐂹𐂺𐂻𐂼𐂽𐂾𐂿𐃀𐃁𐃂𐃃𐃄𐃅𐃆𐃇𐃈𐃉𐃊𐃋𐃌𐃍𐃎𐃏𐃐𐃑𐃒𐃓𐃔𐃕𐃖𐃗𐃘𐃙𐃚𐃛𐃜𐃝𐃞𐃟𐃠𐃡𐃢𐃣𐃤𐃥𐃦𐃧𐃨𐃩𐃪𐃫𐃬𐃭𐃮𐃯𐃰𐃱𐃲𐃳𐃴𐃵𐃶𐃷𐃸𐃹𐃺𐃻𐃼𐃽𐃾𐃿𐄀𐄁𐄂𐄃𐄄𐄅𐄆𐄇𐄈𐄉𐄊𐄋𐄌𐄍𐄎𐄏𐄐𐄑𐄒𐄓𐄔𐄕𐄖𐄗𐄘𐄙𐄚𐄛𐄜𐄝𐄞𐄟𐄠𐄡𐄢𐄣𐄤𐄥𐄦𐄧𐄨𐄩𐄪𐄫𐄬𐄭𐄮𐄯𐄰𐄱𐄲𐄳𐄴𐄵𐄶𐄷𐄸𐄹𐄺𐄻𐄼𐄽𐄾𐄿𐅀𐅁𐅂𐅃𐅄𐅅𐅆𐅇𐅈𐅉𐅊𐅋𐅌𐅍𐅎𐅏𐅐𐅑𐅒𐅓𐅔𐅕𐅖𐅗𐅘𐅙𐅚𐅛𐅜𐅝𐅞𐅟𐅠𐅡𐅢𐅣𐅤𐅥𐅦𐅧𐅨𐅩𐅪𐅫𐅬𐅭𐅮𐅯𐅰𐅱𐅲𐅳𐅴𐅵𐅶𐅷𐅸𐅹𐅺𐅻𐅼𐅽𐅾𐅿𐆀𐆁𐆂𐆃𐆄𐆅𐆆𐆇𐆈𐆉𐆊𐆋𐆌𐆍𐆎𐆏𐆐𐆑𐆒𐆓𐆔𐆕𐆖𐆗𐆘𐆙𐆚𐆛𐆜𐆝𐆞𐆟𐆠𐆡𐆢𐆣𐆤𐆥𐆦𐆧𐆨𐆩𐆪𐆫𐆬𐆭𐆮𐆯𐆰𐆱𐆲𐆳𐆴𐆵𐆶𐆷𐆸𐆹𐆺𐆻𐆼𐆽𐆾𐆿𐇀𐇁𐇂𐇃𐇄𐇅𐇆𐇇𐇈𐇉𐇊𐇋𐇌𐇍𐇎𐇏𐇐𐇑𐇒𐇓𐇔𐇕𐇖𐇗𐇘𐇙𐇚𐇛𐇜𐇝𐇞𐇟𐇠𐇡𐇢𐇣𐇤𐇥𐇦𐇧𐇨𐇩𐇪𐇫𐇬𐇭𐇮𐇯𐇰𐇱𐇲𐇳𐇴𐇵𐇶𐇷𐇸𐇹𐇺𐇻𐇼𐇽𐇾𐇿𐈀𐈁𐈂𐈃𐈄𐈅𐈆𐈇𐈈𐈉𐈊𐈋𐈌𐈍𐈎𐈏𐈐𐈑𐈒𐈓𐈔𐈕𐈖𐈗𐈘𐈙𐈚𐈛𐈜𐈝𐈞𐈟𐈠𐈡𐈢𐈣𐈤𐈥𐈦𐈧𐈨𐈩𐈪𐈫𐈬𐈭𐈮𐈯𐈰𐈱𐈲𐈳𐈴𐈵𐈶𐈷𐈸𐈹𐈺𐈻𐈼𐈽𐈾𐈿𐉀𐉁𐉂𐉃𐉄𐉅𐉆𐉇𐉈𐉉𐉊𐉋𐉌𐉍𐉎𐉏𐉐𐉑𐉒𐉓𐉔𐉕𐉖𐉗𐉘𐉙𐉚𐉛𐉜𐉝𐉞𐉟𐉠𐉡𐉢𐉣𐉤𐉥𐉦𐉧𐉨𐉩𐉪𐉫𐉬𐉭𐉮𐉯𐉰𐉱𐉲𐉳𐉴𐉵𐉶𐉷𐉸𐉹𐉺𐉻𐉼𐉽𐉾𐉿𐊀𐊁𐊂𐊃𐊄𐊅𐊆𐊇𐊈𐊉𐊊𐊋𐊌𐊍𐊎𐊏𐊐𐊑𐊒𐊓𐊔𐊕𐊖𐊗𐊘𐊙𐊚𐊛𐊜𐊝𐊞𐊟𐊠𐊡𐊢𐊣𐊤𐊥𐊦𐊧𐊨𐊩𐊪𐊫𐊬𐊭𐊮𐊯𐊰𐊱𐊲𐊳𐊴𐊵𐊶𐊷𐊸𐊹𐊺𐊻𐊼𐊽𐊾𐊿𐋀𐋁𐋂𐋃𐋄𐋅𐋆𐋇𐋈𐋉𐋊𐋋𐋌𐋍𐋎𐋏𐋐𐋑𐋒𐋓𐋔𐋕𐋖𐋗𐋘𐋙𐋚𐋛𐋜𐋝𐋞𐋟𐋠𐋡𐋢𐋣𐋤𐋥𐋦𐋧𐋨𐋩𐋪𐋫𐋬𐋭𐋮𐋯𐋰𐋱𐋲𐋳𐋴𐋵𐋶𐋷𐋸𐋹𐋺𐋻𐋼𐋽𐋾𐋿𐌀𐌁𐌂𐌃𐌄𐌅𐌆𐌇𐌈𐌉𐌊𐌋𐌌𐌍𐌎𐌏𐌐𐌑𐌒𐌓𐌔𐌕𐌖𐌗𐌘𐌙𐌚𐌛𐌜𐌝𐌞𐌟𐌠𐌡𐌢𐌣𐌤𐌥𐌦𐌧𐌨𐌩𐌪𐌫𐌬𐌭𐌮𐌯𐌰𐌱𐌲𐌳𐌴𐌵𐌶𐌷𐌸𐌹𐌺𐌻𐌼𐌽𐌾𐌿𐍀𐍁𐍂𐍃𐍄𐍅𐍆𐍇𐍈𐍉𐍊𐍋𐍌𐍍𐍎𐍏𐍐𐍑𐍒𐍓𐍔𐍕𐍖𐍗𐍘𐍙𐍚𐍛𐍜𐍝𐍞𐍟𐍠𐍡𐍢𐍣𐍤𐍥𐍦𐍧𐍨𐍩𐍪𐍫𐍬𐍭𐍮𐍯𐍰𐍱𐍲𐍳𐍴𐍵𐍶𐍷𐍸𐍹𐍺𐍻𐍼𐍽𐍾𐍿𐎀𐎁𐎂𐎃𐎄𐎅𐎆𐎇𐎈𐎉𐎊𐎋𐎌𐎍𐎎𐎏𐎐𐎑𐎒𐎓𐎔𐎕𐎖𐎗𐎘𐎙𐎚𐎛𐎜𐎝𐎞𐎟𐎠𐎡𐎢𐎣𐎤𐎥𐎦𐎧𐎨𐎩𐎪𐎫𐎬𐎭𐎮𐎯𐎰𐎱𐎲𐎳𐎴𐎵𐎶𐎷𐎸𐎹𐎺𐎻𐎼𐎽𐎾𐎿𐏀𐏁𐏂𐏃𐏄𐏅𐏆𐏇𐏈𐏉𐏊𐏋𐏌𐏍𐏎𐏏𐏐𐏑𐏒𐏓𐏔𐏕𐏖𐏗𐏘𐏙𐏚𐏛𐏜𐏝𐏞𐏟𐏠𐏡𐏢𐏣𐏤𐏥𐏦𐏧𐏨𐏩𐏪𐏫𐏬𐏭𐏮𐏯𐏰𐏱𐏲𐏳𐏴𐏵𐏶𐏷𐏸𐏹𐏺𐏻𐏼𐏽𐏾𐏿𐐀𐐁𐐂𐐃𐐄𐐅𐐆𐐇𐐈𐐉𐐊𐐋𐐌𐐍𐐎𐐏𐐐𐐑𐐒𐐓𐐔𐐕𐐖𐐗𐐘𐐙𐐚𐐛𐐜𐐝𐐞𐐟𐐠𐐡𐐢𐐣𐐤𐐥𐐦𐐧𐐨𐐩𐐪𐐫𐐬𐐭𐐮𐐯𐐰𐐱𐐲𐐳𐐴𐐵𐐶𐐷𐐸𐐹𐐺𐐻𐐼𐐽𐐾𐐿𐑀𐑁𐑂𐑃𐑄𐑅𐑆𐑇𐑈𐑉𐑊𐑋𐑌𐑍𐑎𐑏𐑐𐑑𐑒𐑓𐑔𐑕𐑖𐑗𐑘𐑙𐑚𐑛𐑜𐑝𐑞𐑟𐑠𐑡𐑢𐑣𐑤𐑥𐑦𐑧𐑨𐑩𐑪𐑫𐑬𐑭𐑮𐑯𐑰𐑱𐑲𐑳𐑴𐑵𐑶𐑷𐑸𐑹𐑺𐑻𐑼𐑽𐑾𐑿𐒀𐒁𐒂𐒃𐒄𐒅𐒆𐒇𐒈𐒉𐒊𐒋𐒌𐒍𐒎𐒏𐒐𐒑𐒒𐒓𐒔𐒕𐒖𐒗𐒘𐒙𐒚𐒛𐒜𐒝𐒞𐒟𐒠𐒡𐒢𐒣𐒤𐒥𐒦𐒧𐒨𐒩𐒪𐒫𐒬𐒭𐒮𐒯𐒰𐒱𐒲𐒳𐒴𐒵𐒶𐒷

Annex C: Urgently Needed Ideographs

C.1. Introduction

When a member body urgently needs a few ideographs to be standardized for some good reasons (such as they are ideographs in Regional or National Standard ideographs), the member body may, with the approval of the IRG, submit the ideographs independent of any of the current IRG working set to WG2.

C.2. Requirements

The submitter of urgently needed ideographs must prepare the following documents:

- a. All the documents required as in normal ideograph submissions.
- b. In addition to the above, a document to show any unifiable ideographs in the current IRG working sets against the submitted ideographs.
- c. For ideographs not mentioned above, the document must prove that their submitted ideographs are not unifiable with any ideographs in the currently working set. The proof may be provided by listing the documents the submitter has checked, and for each proposed ideograph, a list of ideographs whose radicals and strokes were checked against. It is an important responsibility of the submitter to check with not only current standardized CJK ideographs, but also the IRG working set for any unifiable characters against its submission. If a submitter fails to do the above, the submission will not be approved by the IRG as an IRG-endorsed independent submission to WG2.

C.3. Dealing with Urgent Requests

The IRG may at its discretion accept the document from the submitter of urgently needed ideographs for discussion if the amount of work is considered to be reasonably small for IRG review without unreasonable disruption to its on-going projects. Accepted submissions must be checked by the IRG for correctness, duplication and unification. All accepted ideographs as independent submission must be checked with the current IRG working sets. When an ideograph is found to be identical or unifiable with the ones in the current IRG working sets, such ideograph must be noted and removed from the current IRG working sets if approval by WG2 is given.

Annex D: Up-to-Date CJK Unified Ideograph Sources and Source References

Commented [h9]: To be reviewed by member body and updated. Currently, this is extracted from ISO 10646:2003 with Malaysia added.

D1. Member body Code:

G: China
H: Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
J: Japan
K: Republic of Korea
KP: Democratic People's Republic of Korea
M: Macao Special Administrative Region
MY: Malaysia (Added in Nov. 2008 in IRG Meeting No. 31)
T: Taipei Computer Association
U: Unicode Consortium
V: Vietnam

D2. The Hanzi G sources

G0 GB2312-80
G1 GB12345-90 with 58 Hong Kong and 92 Korean "Idu" characters
G3 GB7589-87 traditional forms
G5 GB7590-87 traditional forms
G7 General Purpose Hanzi List for Modern Chinese Language, and General List of Simplified Hanzi
GS Singapore Characters
G8 GB8565-88
GE GB16500-95
G_KX Kangxi Dictionary ideographs (康熙字典) including the addendum (康熙字典) 補遺
G_HZ Hanyu Dazidian ideographs (漢語大字典)
G_CY Ci Yuan (辭源)
G_CH Ci Hai (辭海)
G_HC Hanyu Dazidian (漢語大詞典)
G_BK Chinese Encyclopedia (中國大百科全書)
G_FZ Founder Press System (方正排版系統)
G_4K Siku Quanshu (四庫全書)

D3. Hanzi H sources

Hong Kong Supplementary Character Set(HKSCS)

D4. Hanzi T sources

T1 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 first plane
T2 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 second plane
T3 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 third plane with some additional characters
T4 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 fourth plane
T5 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 fifth plane
T6 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 sixth plane
T7 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 seventh plane
TF TCA-CNS 11643-1992 fifteenth plane

D5. Kanji J sources

J0 JIS X 0208-1990
J1 JIS X 0212-1990
J3 JIS X 0213:2000 level-3
J4 JIS X 0213:2000 level-4
JA Unified Japanese IT Vendors Contemporary Ideographs, 1993

D6. Hanja K sources are

K0 KS C 5601-1987
K1 KS C 5657-1991
K2 PKS C 5700-1 1994
K3 PKS C 5700-2 1994
K4 PKS 5700-3:1998

D7. Hanja KP sources

KP0 KPS 9566-97
KP1 KPS 10721-2000

D8. ChuNom V sources

V0 TCVN 5773:1993

V1 TCVN 6056:1995
V2 VHN 01:1998
V3 VHN 02: 1998
D9. MY sources

Annex E: List of Over-unified and Mis-unified Ideographs

E.1 Introduction

There are some known mis-unification and over-unification cases in the ISO/IEC 10646. However, once encoded, over-unified and mis-unified characters should not be separately encoded unless agreed upon by WG2. Therefore, requesters must be careful that their proposal does not include such over-unified character. In this section, known over-unified and mis-unified ideographs are listed. Requesters should check against this section before submitting their proposed ideographs to the IRG.

E.2 List of Over-unified Ideographs

<<Insert Contents of IRG N 1483 Appendix B2>>

E.3 List of Mis-unification Ideographs

<<Insert Contents of IRG N 1395>>

Commented [h10]: Taichi: I only have pdf files, cannot do insert at this time. To IRG members: I suggest that we make a number of standing documents in IRG which can be updated from time to time. This should be one of them.

Annex F: IRG Reppertoire Submission Summary Form

ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2/IRG
PROPOSAL SUMMARY FORM TO ACCOMPANY SUBMISSIONS
FOR ADDITIONS OF CJK UNIFIED IDEOGRAPHS TO THE REPERTOIRE OF ISO/IEC 10646
Please fill in all the sections below.

Please read Principles and Procedures Document (P & P) from <http://appsrv.cse.cuhk.edu.hk/~irg/irg31/IRGN1562.pdf>
for guidelines and details before filling in this form.

Please ensure you are using the latest Form from <http://appsrv.cse.cuhk.edu.hk/~irg/irg31/IRGN1562.pdf>.

See also <http://appsrv.cse.cuhk.edu.hk/~irg/UCV.html> for latest *Unifiable Calligraphic Variations*.

A. Administrative

1. IRG Project Code:	e.g. Extension-E
2. Title:	
3. Requester's region/country name:	
4. Requester type (National Body/Individual contribution):	
5. Submission date:	
6. Requested Ideograph Type (Unified or Compatibility Ideographs)	
If Compatibility, does requester have the will to register them as IVS (See UTS #37) with the IRG's approval? (Registration fee will not be charged if authorized by the IRG.)	
7. Request Type (Normal Request or Urgently Needed)	
8. Choose one of the following:	
This is a complete proposal:	
(or) More information will be provided later:	

B. Technical – General

1. Number of ideographs in the proposal:	
2. Glyph format of the proposed ideographs: (128x128 "bmp" files or TrueType font file)	
If 'bmp' files, their file names are the same as their Source IDs?	
If TrueType font, all proposed glyphs are put into BMP PUA area?	
If TrueType font, data for Source IDs vs. character codes are provided?	
3. Source IDs:	
Do all the proposed ideographs have an unique, proper Source ID (country/region code and less than 9 alphanumeric characters)?	
4. Evidence:	
a. Do all the proposed ideographs have the separate evidence document which contains at least one scanned image of printed materials (preferably dictionaries)?	
b. Do all the printed materials used for evidence provide enough information to track them by a third party (ISBN numbers, etc.)?	
5. Attribute Data Format: (Excel file or CSV)	

C. Technical - Checklist

Understandings of the Unification Checklist

1. Has the requester read the ISO/IEC 10646 Annex S and did the requester understand the unification policy?
2. Has the requester read the "Unifiable Calligraphic Variations" (check IRG technical editor for the latest one) and did the requester understand the unifiable variation examples?
3. Has the requester read this P&P document and did the requester understand the 5% rule?

Character-Glyph Duplication Checklist(<http://www.itscj.ipsj.or.jp/sc2/open/pow.htm> contains all the published ones and those under ballot)

4. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs is **not unifiable** with the unified or compatibility ideographs of ISO/IEC 10646?
If yes, which version of ISO/IEC 10646 did requester check? (e.g. 10646:2003)
5. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs is **not unifiable** with the ideographs in Amendments of current ISO/IEC 10646? (As of 2008, Amendment 1, 4, and 5 have the ideographs.)
If yes, which amendments did requester check?
6. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs is **not unifiable** with the ideographs in the current IRG working sets or proposed amendments of ISO/IEC 10646? (As of 2008, PDAM 6 has the ideographs.)
If yes, which draft amendments did requester check?
7. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs is **not unifiable** with the ideographs in the current working M-set and D-set of the IRG? (Contact IRG chief editor and Technical Editor for the newest list)
If yes, which document did requester check?
8. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs is **not unifiable** with the over-unified or mis-unified ideographs in ISO/IEC 10646? (Check Annex E of this document).
9. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs **has similar ideograph** with the ideographs in the current standardized or working set mentioned above?
10. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs **has variant ideograph** with the ideographs in the current standardized or working set mentioned above?

Attribute Data Checklist

11. Do all the proposed ideographs have the radical code, stroke count and first stroke attributes in attribute data?
12. Are there any simplified ideographs (ideographs that are based on the policy described in 簡化字總表) in the proposed ideographs?
If YES, does your proposal include proper simplified/traditional indication flag for each proposed ideograph in attribute data?
13. Do all the proposed ideographs have the document page number of evidence documents in attribute data?
14. Do all the proposed ideographs have the proper Ideographic Description Sequence (IDS) in attribute data?
If NO, how many proposed ideographs do not have the IDS?
15. If the answer to question 9 or 10 is yes, do the attribute data include similar/variant ideographs information for proposed ideographs?

WG2 Principles and Procedures Annex I: Guideline for Handling of CJK Ideograph Unification or Disunification Errors

(Source: www.dkuug.dk/jtc1/sc2/wg2/docs/principles.html)

There are two kinds of errors that may be encountered related to coded CJK unified ideographs.

Case 1: *to be unified* error - Ideographs that should have been unified are assigned separate code points.

Case 2: *to be disunified* error - Ideographs that should not have been unified are unified and assigned a single code point. An example of this is the request from TCA in document [N2271](#).

When such errors are found, the following guidelines will be used by WG 2 to deal with them.

I.1 Guideline for “To Be Unified” Errors

- A. The “*to be unified*” pair will be left disunified. Once a character is assigned a code position in the standard, it will not be removed from the standard.
- B. If necessary, an additional note may be added to an appropriate section in the standard.

I.2 Guideline for “To Be Disunified” Errors

- A. The ideographs to be disunified should be disunified and should be given separate code positions as soon as possible (disunification in some sense, and character name change in some sense also). These ideographs will have two separate glyphs and two separate code positions. One of these ideographs will stay at its current encoded position. The other one will have a new glyph and a new code position.
- B. For the ideographs that are encoded in the BMP, the code charts in ISO/IEC 10646 are presented in multiple columns, with possibly differing glyph shapes in each column. The question of which glyph will be used for the currently encoded ideograph will be resolved as follows. In the interest of synchronization between ISO/IEC 10646 and the Unicode standard, the ideograph with the glyph shape that is similar to the glyph that is published in the “[Unicode Charts](#)” will continue to be associated with its current code position. For the ideographs outside the BMP, the glyph shape in ISO/IEC 10646 and the Unicode Charts are identical and will be used with its current code position.
- C. The disunified ideograph will have a glyph that is different from the one that retains the current code position.
- D. The net result will be an addition of new ideograph character and a correction and an additional entry to the source reference table.

I.3 Discouragement of New Disunification Request

There is a possibility of “pure true disunification” request. This is almost like the new source code separation request. This kind of request will not be accepted disregarding the reasoning behind. Key difference between “TO BE DISUNIFIED” and “WILL NOT BE DISUNIFIED” is as follows.

- a. If character pair is non-cognate (meanings are different), that pair of characters is TO BE DISUNIFIED.
- b. If a character pair is cognate (means the same but different shape), that pair of characters WILL NOT BE DISUNIFIED.

Disunification request with reason of mis-application (over-application usually) of unification rule should NOT be accepted due to the principle in resolution [M41.11](#).

WG2 PnP Annex J: Guideline for Correction of CJK Ideograph Mapping Table Errors

(Source: [ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2 N2577](#) – 2003-09-02)

In principle, mapping table or reference to code point of existing national/regional standard (in the source reference tables) must not be changed. But once a fatal error is found it should be corrected as early as possible, under following guidelines:

J.1 Priority of error correction procedure

- A. Consider adding new code position and source-reference mapping for the character in question rather than changing the mapping table.
- B. If change of mapping table is unavoidable, correction should be done as soon as possible.

J.2 Announcement of addition or correction of mapping table

Once any addition or correction of mapping table is made, an announcement of the change should be made immediately. Usually this will be in the form of a resolution of a WG 2 meeting, followed by subsequent process resulting in an appropriate amendment to the standard.

J.3 Collection and maintenance of mapping tables that are not owned by WG 2

There are many mapping tables, which are included in national/regional standards or developed by third parties. These are out of WG 2's scope. Any organization (such as Unicode Consortium) that collects mapping information, maintains it consistently and makes this information widely available is invited and encouraged to do so.

References

Document numbers in the first column in the following table refer to IRG working documents (ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2/IRGNxxxx), except where noted otherwise. For documents with no link, you may try <http://www.cse.cuhk.edu.hk/~irg/>; some older documents may only be available in paper form (contact the IRG rapporteur Prof. Lu Qin).

Doc. No.	Title	Source	Date
WG2 N3201	Principles and Procedures for Allocation of New Characters and Scripts and Handling of Defect Reports on Character Names Annex S	WG2	2007-03-14
N681	http://standards.iso.org/ittf/PubliclyAvailableStandards/c039921_ISO_IEC_10646_2003(E).zip	Bruce Peterson and IRG Rapporteur	1999-11-18
N881	CJK Extension C Submission Format	IRG	2001-12-04
N953	Minutes of the Adhoc meeting on submitted documents: N941, N942, N944, N945, N948, N949	CJK ad hoc group	2002-11-22
N954	Report on first stroke/stroke count by ad hoc group	CJK ad hoc group	2002-11-22
N954AR	N954 Appendix: First Stroke / Stroke Count Chart	CJK ad hoc group	2002-11-21
N955	IRG Radical Classification	Ideograph Radical Ad Hoc	2002-11-21
N956	Ideograph Unification	Ideograph Radical Ad Hoc	2002-11-21
N1105	Amendments to IRG N954AR	Macao	2005-01-03
N1183	IDS decomposition principles(Revised by the IRG)	KAWABATA, Taichi	2005-12-28
N1197	Sample evidence for CJK C1 candidates	Japan	2006-05-22
N1372	On Better use of IDS on IRG development process	KAWABATA, Taichi	2007-11-09
SC2 N3933		SC2	

Glossary:**[to be updated later]**

Source: A reputable published document such as a dictionary, a standardization document, or a well published and widely read or referenced book which the IRG would consider as authoritative such that the characters in this source are considered reliable and stable for consideration of inclusion.

Commented [A11]: Add Clause No. in ISO10646

Abstract shape:

D-set:

M-set:

Working set:

Compatibility characters:

Ideographic Description Sequence(IDS):

New Source: ISO reference

INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION FOR STANDARDIZATION
ORGANISATION INTERNATIONALE DE NORMALISATION
ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2/IRG

Universal Multiple-Octet Coded Character Set
(UCS)

ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2/IRG **N1562**
2009-06-03

Title: IRG Principles and Procedures Version 3 Draft 1
Source: IRG P&P Drafting Group
Action: For review by the IRG and WG2
Distribution: IRG Members and Ideographic Experts
References: IRGN1561(P&PV2 and all feedbacks),
IRN1559(P&P V2Draft and all feedbacks),
IRGN 1465(P&P Draft1),
IRGN 1487(Feedback from HKSARG),
IRGN 1489(Feedback from Taichi Kawabata),
IRGN 1516(Feedback from HKSARG)

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	3
1.1. Scope of IRG Work	3
1.2. Scope of This Document	3
2. Development of CJK Unified Ideographs	3
2.1. Principles on Identification of CJK Unified Ideographs	4
2.1.1. Principles on Encoding	4
2.1.2. Unification Procedures of CJK Ideographs	4
2.1.3. Non-cognate Rule	4
2.1.4. Maintaining Up-to-Date Unification/Non-unification Examples	4
2.2. Principles on Submission of Ideographs to the IRG	4
2.2.1. Basic Rules for Submission	4
2.2.2. Required Font to be Submitted	5
2.2.3. Required Data to be Submitted	5
2.2.4. Required Evidence to be Submitted	6
2.2.5. Required Summary Form to be Submitted	6
2.2.6. Quality Assurance: The 5% rule	6
2.3. Principles on Production of IRG Working Drafts	6
2.3.1. Principles on Submitted Ideographs	6
2.3.2. Principles on Assignment of Serial Number	7
2.3.3. Principles on Machine-checking of IDS of Submitted Ideographs	7
2.3.4. Production of IRG Working Drafts	7
2.4. Principles on Reviewing IRG Working Drafts	8
2.4.1. General Principles on Reviews	8
2.4.2. Principles on Manual Checking	8
2.4.3. Submission of Possibly Unifiable Ideographs	8
2.5. Principles on Discussions at IRG Meetings	8
2.5.1. Document-based Discussion	8
2.5.2. Discussion Procedures	9
2.5.3. Recording of Discussions	9
2.5.4. Time and Quality Management	9
2.6. Principles on Submission of Ideographs to WG2	9
2.6.1. Checking of Stabilized M-Set	9
2.6.2. Preparation for WG2 Submission	9
3. Procedures	10
3.1. Call for Submission	10

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 6

Deleted: 7

Deleted: 7

Deleted: 9

Deleted: 9

3.2. Consolidation and Grouping of Submitted Ideographs	10
3.3. First Checking Stage	10
3.4. First Discussion and Conclusion Stage	11
3.5. Second Checking Stage	11
3.6. Second Consolidation and Conclusion Stage	11
3.7. Final Checking Stage	11
3.8. Approval and Submission to WG2	12
4. Guidelines for Comments and Resolutions on Working Sets.....	12
4.1. Guidelines for M-Set	12
4.2. Guidelines for D-Set	13
5. IRG Website.....	13
6. IRG Document Registration.....	13
6.1. Registration Procedures	14
6.2. Contact for IRG Document Registration	14
Annex A: Sorting Algorithm of Ideographs.....	15
Annex B: IDS Matching.....	16
B.1. Guidelines on Creation of IDS	16
B.2. Requirements on IDS Matching	16
B.3. Limitation of IDS Matching	16
Annex C: Urgently Needed Ideographs.....	17
C.1. Introduction	17
C.2. Requirements	17
C.3. Dealing with Urgent Requests	17
Annex D: Up-to-Date CJK Unified Ideograph Sources and Source References.....	18
Annex E: List of Over-unified and Mis-unified Ideographs.....	20
E.1 Introduction	20
E.2 List of Over-unified Ideographs	20
E.3 List of Mis-unification Ideographs	20
Annex F: IRG Repertoire Submission Summary Form	
WG2 Principles and Procedures Annex I: Guideline for Handling of CJK Ideograph	
Unification or Disunification Errors.....	23
I.1 Guideline for "To Be Unified" Errors	23
I.2 Guideline for "To Be Disunified" Errors	23
I.3 Discouragement of New Disunification Request	23
WG2 PnP Annex J: Guideline for Correction of CJK Ideograph Mapping Table Errors	24
References.....	25
Glossary:[to be updated later].....	25

Deleted:

Deleted: -set

Deleted:

Deleted: -set

Deleted: 14

Deleted: 21

Deleted: 21

Deleted: 21

Deleted: 21

Deleted: 24

Deleted: 24

Deleted: 24

Deleted: 24

Deleted: 25

Deleted: 26

Deleted: 26

1. Introduction

This document is a standing document of ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2/IRG for standardization of Chinese-Japanese-Korean(CJK) Unified Ideographs. It consists of a set of principles and procedures on a number of items relevant to the preparation, submission and development of repertoires of CJK Unified Ideographs extensions for additions to the standard ([ISO/IEC 10646](#)). Submitters should check the standard documents (including all the amendments and corrigenda) before preparing new submissions.

For anything not explicitly covered in this document, the IRG will follow the Principles and Procedures of WG2 and other higher level directives.

1.1. Scope of IRG Work

The IRG works on CJK ideograph-related tasks under the supervision of WG2 (SC2 Resolution M13-05). The following is a list of current and completed IRG projects:

- a. CJK Unified Ideograph Repertoire and its extensions
- b. Kangxi Radicals and CJK Radical Supplements
- c. Ideographic Description Characters
- d. International Ideographs Core (IICore)
- e. CJK Strokes
- f. Old Hanzi

Work on new IRG projects requires the approval of WG2 and preparation of documents for such approval is required before the [IRG can](#) officially launch [these projects](#).

Deleted: projects can

Deleted: in IRG

1.2. Scope of This Document

The following sections are dedicated for standardization of CJK Unified Ideographs, describing the set of principles and procedures to be applied in the development of a new repertoire of CJK Unified Ideographs as specified under work item a_ in Section 1.1.

Deleted: .

This document does not cover other IRG work items listed in Section 1.1. Standardizing CJK Compatibility Characters maintained in UCS for the purpose of round-trip integrity with other standards is out of IRG scope. However, CJK compatibility characters submitted to WG2 must be reviewed by the IRG to avoid potential problems. For handling mis-unification and duplicate ideographs, WG2 Principles and Procedures Annex I and J attached to this document should be referenced.

2. Development of CJK Unified Ideographs

Any new extension work must be approved by WG2 before the actual consolidation and review can be formally carried out. There are no fixed rules to initiate a new extension. Normally, some member bodies would first initiate it by submitting a proposal which states the need of a required repertoire. Submission of proposals must follow the principles and procedures stated in this document. The IRG would first review the proposal and determine that it is within the IRG scope.

Taking into consideration of the urgency, the justification and the repertoire size in the proposal, and the current workload of the IRG, the IRG may take one of the following actions.

- a. Endorse the proposal and submit it to WG2 for approval.
- b. Request other member bodies to submit characters of similar nature so as to estimate the real workload before submitting to WG2 for endorsement.
- c. Accept the proposal as a contribution to an ongoing IRG work item.
- d. Reject the proposals with justification. A rejected proposal may be revised and resubmitted to the IRG.

Deleted:

2.1. Principles on Identification of CJK Unified Ideographs

2.1.1. Principles on Encoding

Ideographs that have the same abstract shapes are unified under the unification rule (Annex S of ISO/IEC 10646) and assigned to a single character code. A CJK ideographic character can be represented in many actual forms depending on the writing style adopted. Examples of common writing styles include Song style and Ming style as typical print forms, Kai style as a hand written form, and Cao style as a cursive form. Stylistically different forms of the same character can be represented by a different number or different type of strokes or components, which may affect identification of the same abstract shape. In order to reach a common ground to identify those abstract shapes to be encoded as distinct CJK Unified Ideographs, the IRG only accepts submissions using a print form of glyphs (usually Song style or Ming style).

2.1.2. Unification Procedures of CJK Ideographs

Standard print forms of CJK ideographs are constructed with a combination of known components or stroke types. Many are determined by two components - a radical chosen to classify the character in dictionaries and possibly reflect the meaning of the character and a phonetic component which represents the pronunciation of the character. Basically, two submitted print forms of glyphs with different radicals are distinct characters even if they have the same phonetic component such as shown in the example of '理'(U+7406) and '鯉'(U+9BC9). For non trivial cases, further shape analysis must be conducted. Two similar glyphs are decomposed into radicals, components or stroke types and evaluated by following the unification procedures described in Annex S of ISO/IEC 10646.

Deleted: .

2.1.3. Non-cognate Rule

No matter how similar two ideographs are in actual shape, non-cognate or semantically different glyphs are considered to have different abstract shapes. The following gives examples of semantically different characters with very similar glyphs, they are considered to have different abstract shapes because they are non-cognate.

Deleted:

Deleted: thus

'戌'(U+620C) and '戌'(U+620D) differ only in rotated strokes or dots (S.1.5 a).

'于'(U+4E8E) and '干'(U+5E72) differ only in folding back at the stroke termination (S.1.5 f).

Because shape analysis alone may not tell non-cognateness or semantic differences, it is the submitter's responsibility to provide information and supporting evidence in order to invoke the non-cognate rule.

2.1.4. Maintaining Up-to-Date Unification/Non-unification Examples

In annex S, unification / non-unification examples are summarized from past practice (currently, only reflecting the first unification work in the main block) and they are not exhaustive. If there is ambiguity in applying these rules, the IRG must first have a formal discussion for agreement. In case of finding worthy recorded examples, the IRG will maintain an up-to-date list of unification / non-unification examples by adding such examples. Furthermore, The list will be reported to WG2 from time to time as the input for Annex S revision.

Deleted:

2.2. Principles on Submission of Ideographs to the IRG

2.2.1. Basic Rules for Submission

A member body may submit the following to the IRG along with its repertoire. Different information may be handled differently as specified below.

- New Sources to standardized ideographs.** If the submission specifies new sources (such as an existing or a new national standard) to some existing standards, it needs to be reviewed and approved by the IRG before submission to WG2. Sources and source references in current ISO/IEC 10646 standard can be found in clause 27 of ISO/IEC 10646 First edition (2003-12-15)(See Annex D for up-to-date IRG list of sources)
- New Sources to working sets.** In case there are some remaining characters in previous standardization stages, new sources reviewed and approved by the IRG will be incorporated

Deleted:

into the up-to-date IRG list of sources for the current IRG working sets by the IRG technical editor.

- c. **New Compatibility Ideographs.** In case a member body needs to add compatibility ideographs, these characters must be reviewed by the IRG before submission to WG2 to avoid potential problems of unification or dis-unification with other CJK characters.

- d. **New Unified Ideographs.** All ideograph submissions are subject to the following rules:

(1). **Collection Size:** As the collection is defined by submitters according to their own criteria, IRG will not impose a limit on the collection size. However, to minimize the burden of the checking process and to achieve a higher quality of standard within a reasonably short period of time, review by IRG members normally cannot exceed 4,000 ideographs. Based on this principle, members may be asked to divide its submitted collections into subsets to be processed in different IRG collections.

(2). **Pre-submission Unification Checking:** A member body should be EXTREMELY CAREFUL **not to submit unified ideographs that are already standardized or previously discussed** and recorded at IRG meetings. By nature of the ideographs, it is very difficult for reviewers to find out all unifiable ideographs. Thus, it is important to **achieve** high quality at the time of submission. Submitters must make sure that submitted ideographs do not fall into any of the following categories:

- a) Ideographs already standardized in the ISO/IEC 10646 standard (including amendments).
- b) Ideographs currently in WG2 working drafts (including PDAM, FPDAM and FDAM)
- c) Ideographs currently in IRG working sets including both M-sets and D-sets.
- d) Ideographs mis-unified or over-unified with ideographs in current standard based on the list maintained by **the IRG**.

Low quality submissions may **be rejected by applying the** "5% rule" described in Section 2.2.6 below.

(3). **Document Registration:** All submission documents should be registered as IRG N documents, whose file name should be in the form of:

IRGNnnnn_mmmm[_sss[_ppp]]_submission

where nnnn indicates **a document number assigned by the IRG rapporteur**, mmmm indicates member body's source ID (as listed in 2.2.3a), sss can be any member body designated indicator, and ppp indicates the working set or repertoire name (such as Ext. C labelled by "_C").

(4). **Submission of Over-Unified or Mis-Unified Ideographs:** Submission of ideographs that are already mis-unified or over-unified within the current standard should follow the principles in Annex I of WG2 Principles and Procedures. The list of over-unified or mis-unified ideographs should be maintained by the IRG technical editor and made available as an IRG standing **document**.

2.2.2. Required Font to be Submitted

- a. **Glyph image** : Each proposed ideograph must be accompanied by a corresponding 128 x 128 bitmap file in Song or Ming style. The file name should be the same as the Source ID (defined below in Section 2.2.3.) with .bmp as its file extension.
- b. **TrueType font** (optional): TrueType Font availability is highly recommended although not necessary. Font specification can be found under point 5 of A.1. – Submitter's Responsibilities in Annex A, url: <http://std.dkuug.dk/jtc1/sc2/wg2/docs/principles.html>). The IRG at certain stage of project development will set a deadline for TrueType font submission.

2.2.3. Required Data to be Submitted

The following data for each proposed ideograph must be submitted with CSV (Comma Separated Value) text format (in UTF-8) or Microsoft Excel format file:

- a. **Source ID** to indicate the source and the name of the glyph image for tracking. ID should begin with a member body code (G,T,J,K,V,KP,H,M, MY, or U) followed by no more than 9 characters and should contain only Latin capital letters, Arabic numbers, and hyphens. See Annex D for details on information about member body code.

Deleted:

Deleted: keep

Commented [h1]: Standing document series to be determined in IRG Meeting No. 32.

Deleted: become a subject of

Deleted: an

Deleted: assigned document number

Commented [h2]: Serial number to To be confirmed in IRG Meeting No. 32.

Commented [A3]: Section 27 of ISO10646

- b. **Glyph Image file name.** The glyph image file name of each glyph image must be the same as the source ID with file extension of **.bmp** in bitmap format.
- c. **KangXi Radical Code** from U+2F00 to U+2FD5 with an additional 0 or 1 to indicate a traditional character or simplified character, respectively.
- d. **Stroke Count** of the Non-radical Component(ref. IRG N 954 AR and IRG N 1105)..
- e. **Flag to show whether the ideograph is traditional (0) or simplified (1).**
- f. **First Stroke Code** of the Non-radical Component (ref. IRG N 954 AR and IRG N 1105).
- g. **Ideographic Description Sequence** (ref. JRG N 1183).
- h. **Similar Ideographs and Variant Ideographs** if available (identified by their code points in the standard in the form of U+xxxxx) or enter "No" if no known variants, leave it empty if not checked.
- i. **References to evidence document** including document number and page **number**.

Commented [h4]: Should it be png form?

Commented [h5]: Umma's comment: Consider making the material from IRG N954 AR and IRG N1105 in item f and IRGN 1183 in item g, as annexes to this IRG P&P document, for ease of reference for the user. It looks like the IDS was in Appendix C per item g in previous draft and has been removed !!

Deleted:

Commented [h6]: Umma's comment: One or more illustrative examples showing the correct use of various items from a to h in this section will be very useful .. either at the end of this section or as an Annex containing samples for submissions to help the proposers.]

2.2.4. Required Evidence to be Submitted

- a. **Supporting Evidence:** Evidence should be supplied to support the proposed glyph shape and the usage and context with pronunciations, meanings, etc., to convince the IRG that it is actually used or non-cognate with other similar ideographs. Evidence for each character must be supplied as scanned images.
- b. **Questionable Characters** (optional): For candidate ideographs with possible unification questions, submitters are encouraged to provide detailed evidence of use from authoritative sources, and relationships to other standardized ideographs or variants having similar shape or meaning encoded in UCS for review.
- c. **Avoidance of Derived Simplified Ideographs:** To avoid encoding derived simplified characters without grounds of actual use, submission of simplified ideographs requires the actual usage evidence. Providing only their corresponding traditional ideographs will not be considered evidence.

Deleted: s

Deleted: s

2.2.5. Required Summary Form to be Submitted

Each submission for an ideograph collection should be accompanied by a duly completed "Proposal Summary Form for Additions of CJK Unified Ideographs to the Repertoire of ISO/IEC 10646" (see **Annex F**).

Deleted:

Deleted:

2.2.6. Quality Assurance: The 5% rule

For any character encoding standard, a common general principle is to encode the same character once and only once. Before any submission, it is the submitter's responsibility to filter out the ideographs that are already in:

- the published standard,
- any of its published amendments,
- any of its amendments under ballot in JTC1/SC2,
- or,
- one of the working sets of **the** IRG.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed ideograph for encoding, the IRG will evaluate the credibility and quality of the submitter's proposal. If the IRG finds more than 5% of duplicated characters in the above mentioned collections from the submitter's source set during the IRG review process, the whole submission will be removed from the subsequent IRG working drafts for that particular IRG project.

Deleted: in the

2.3. Principles on Production of IRG Working Drafts

After the IRG accepts submissions based on principles specified in Section 2.2, the IRG technical editor will produce a set of IRG working drafts.

2.3.1. Principles on Submitted Ideographs

- a. All the original ideograph submissions, including glyphs, IDS, radicals, stroke counts and evidence, must have registered IRG document numbers.

- b. If any required information is missing, the IRG chief editor or technical editor can ask for additional information from the submitter. Without timely supply of such information, the submission can be rejected by the technical editor for production of a working draft.

2.3.2. Principles on Assignment of Serial Number

- a. The IRG technical editor will consolidate and sort the submitted ideographs in accordance with Annex A of this document.
- b. A unique *serial number* will be assigned to each submitted ideograph after consolidation. The serial numbers must be unique throughout the entire standardization process. They must not be changed, re-set or re-assigned unless a split happens. This principle allows easy reference to past discussions. In case of a split, one ideograph will keep the original serial number and a new serial number will be assigned to the split ideograph.
- c. If ideographs submitted by different member bodies are obviously unifiable, such ideographs may be unified and assigned the same serial number by the IRG technical editor.

2.3.3. Principles on Machine-checking of IDS of Submitted Ideographs

- a. The IRG technical editor will check the submitted IDS with existing IDS data to detect possible unifiable or duplicated ideographs.
- b. Machine checking sometimes detects obviously non-unifiable pairs. Such cases, when detected, will be annotated before proceeding to the next stage.
- c. IDS checking algorithm will satisfy the requirements described in Annex B.

2.3.4. Production of IRG Working Drafts

- a. **Division of Character Subsets:** By the result of IDS checking, submitted ideographs will be grouped into the following two working sets:
 - i. **M-set (main set):** for ideographs with proper IDS, and found not to be unifiable with current standardized ideographs nor previously discussed ideographs with proper IDS.
 - ii. **D-set (discussion set):** for ideographs with missing, incomplete, or inconclusive IDS, or ideographs *of which the attribute data have been questioned by any member body during a review process, or* that might be unifiable with standardized or previously discussed ideographs. Ideographs with missing or incomplete IDS will be commented as such, and checked intensively through manual checking. Ideographs that might be unifiable with standardized or previously discussed ideographs will also be commented as such, and their suitability for unification must be manually checked and supported by evidence for dis-unification.
- b. **Naming of Working Drafts:** The file name should follow the format of "IRGNnnnnVX[XXX]" where *nnnn* is the IRG assigned document number and X is the version number. No space is allowed but use of underscore " _ " for separation is allowed. Examples of version numbers are "ExtEV1.0", "V1.0Draft", etc.
- c. **Glyph Images:** Archive of consolidated glyph images whose image size should be 128x128 with file name using the Source ID with the extension *.bmp*.
- d. **Addition of Characters:** No ideographs should be added to the working set once the development process begins.
- e. **Alteration of Characters:** Generally speaking, alteration of characters indicates instability and any change may also impact on other characters in the collection. Thus it is generally not allowed. However, members may submit minor alteration of characters with provision of justification ONLY at the final stage as long as alteration is unifiable to the original. Change of glyph beyond the Annex S unification criteria is considered to be an addition of new character and is NOT acceptable at this stage. The submitter must provide the results of thorough checking and verifying that the alteration does not affect other characters in existing standards and working sets must be supplied. The IRG, based on its evaluation, may decide to accept the alteration, reject the alteration or request the removal of such a character by the submitter. If the requester finds that the glyph of a character is wrong at any working stages, the character will be rejected by *the* IRG and should be withdrawn by the submitter.
- f. **Previous D-Set:** If a previously discussed D-set exists, new D-set ideographs should be merged with the previous existing D-set.
- g. After consolidation, the IRG chief editor and technical editor may ask members to review M-set and D-set based on IRG review schedule and task division.

Commented [h7]: ?png? Add an example file name later

Deleted: for

Deleted: .

2.4. Principles on Reviewing IRG Working Drafts

If the IRG instructs member bodies to review a working draft, member bodies' editors should review it (different portions may be assigned to different member bodies) according to the agreed schedule and they should follow the principles set out below during the review process.

2.4.1. General Principles on Reviews

- a. Each member body should check the ideographs of the working sets assigned by the IRG chief editor and technical editor for the following issues:
 - i. Correctness of KangXi radical and KangXi Index, Stroke Count, Radical, First Stroke and IDS.
 - ii. Correctness and quality of glyphs and source information if necessary.
 - iii. Any duplicate or unifiable ideographs based on Annex S guidelines.
 - iv. Consistency of submitted characters with the submitted evidence and documentary proof.
- b. When any data, including IDS, KangXi radical, or stroke count is found to be incorrect, such M-set ideograph should be moved to D-set as its standing data is no longer valid. Until such ideograph is assured to be unique by manual checking (procedures described in Section 2.4.2. below), it should not be moved back to M-set.

Deleted: G

2.4.2. Principles on Manual Checking

- a. **Duplication and Unification:** For D-set ideographs, members should ensure that they are not duplicates of or unified with any ideographs in the standard or in another working set (including the current one).
- b. **Radical Checking:** Assurance is done by enumerating all possible radicals of a target ideograph and looking for any duplicate or unifiable ideographs in the range of ± 2 stroke counts of standardized and working ideographs. For example, “聞” may have the radical of “門” with 6 strokes, or the radical of “耳” with 8 strokes. In such a case, checking standardized and working set ideographs with radical of “門” and 4-8 strokes, or ideographs with radical of “耳” and strokes of 6-10 manually can have much better assurance that such an ideograph does not have duplicate or unifiable ideographs. [Does this apply to D Set only or both to D Set and M Set?]
- c. **Recording of Review Results:** After reviewing, the reviewer should record the comment of “Checked against all standardized and working ideographs with radical X and stroke of Y ± 2 .” [Does this apply to D Set only or both to D Set and M Set?]

2.4.3. Submission of Possibly Unifiable Ideographs

- a. **Preparation of Comments:** Member bodies should prepare comments and feedback with reference to the assigned serial number of the ideograph in question. The guidelines on comments are described in Section 4 of this document. Comment files should be in CSV form as a text file or a Microsoft Excel format file. All comment files must have pre-assigned IRG document numbers.
- b. **Additional Evidence and Arguments:** For each proposed ideograph in the D-set that has been questioned for possible unification, the submitter should prepare arguments with further evidence of its use and further evidence (for example, in dictionaries, legal documents or other publications) showing that it is not unifiable with another standardized ideograph or an ideograph proposed in the same or another working draft.
- c. **Submission Deadline:** Each member body will send feedback comments at least two months before the next IRG meeting. The IRG chief editor and technical editor will consolidate them and register the result as IRG N documents a month before the next IRG meeting so that each member body can examine the comments and prepare any additional documents for discussion at the meeting.
- d. **Rejection:** Questioned ideographs with no counter arguments in support of dis-unification supplied to the meeting will be automatically marked as unified.

Deleted: Unification

2.5. Principles on Discussions at IRG Meetings

2.5.1. Document-based Discussion

For efficient and smooth work, all discussion items and evidence must be prepared with registered IRG documents before the commencement of an IRG meeting. Items or evidence that are not

contained in an IRG registered document are not treated as evidence and will not be discussed during IRG meetings. Any discussions on evidence or items raised after the commencement of an IRG meeting may be postponed to the next IRG meeting if any member body requests longer time to examine such items or evidence.

2.5.2. Discussion Procedures

Discussion will be based on the review comments on working sets. For non-unification issues, a submitter should present evidence document(s) showing that suspected unifiable ideographs are distinctively used as non-cognate character in the same region, or that these two characters cannot be unified in accordance with Annex S. When IRG members have consensus that the ideographs are unifiable, the submitter should take one of the following actions, and the decision must be recorded.

- a. Withdraw the duplicate ideograph and map the character in question to the existing standardized or working set ideograph.
- b. Submit it as a compatibility character.
- c. Add a new source reference to the existing standardized or working set ideograph.

When characters are reviewed by different people, different choices of radical, stroke count or first stroke code are possible for the same ideograph. IRG members should resolve to agree on the most appropriate one based on the commonest abstract shape of the specific glyph. When KangXi radical or stroke count is found to be incorrect, the ideographs will be moved to D-set and wait for another manual review to prevent any unification error caused by not having conducted the review with ideographs having the correct KangXi radical or stroke count.

Guidelines on typical comments and resolutions are given in Section 4 of this document.

2.5.3. Recording of Discussions

Comments, rationales, and decisions must be recorded for each ideograph reviewed in a tabular format for reference and checking.

2.5.4. Time and Quality Management

Before discussion begins, the number of ideographs under review will be counted and the estimated schedule will be determined based on it. During the discussion, the number of comments reviewed per hour will be noted and the schedule will be adjusted by this rate (Note: It is recognized that some comments may take longer than others to discuss and resolve). If the comments cannot be handled in one IRG meeting, they may be partitioned and resolved in subsequent IRG meetings. Due to the limited time CJK Editorial Group has to deal with individual characters during an IRG meeting, member bodies can use emails to discuss and reach agreement on simple, straightforward cases before and after an IRG meeting.

2.6. Principles on Submission of Ideographs to WG2

2.6.1. Checking of Stabilized M-Set

- a. Once M-set is consolidated and stabilized, the ideographs of M-set will be checked intensively as a complete set at least once to ensure data and glyph integrity.
- b. Approval by member bodies by majority is needed before the set can be prepared for WG2 submission.

2.6.2. Preparation for WG2 Submission

After the approval by majority of IRG member bodies, the IRG technical editor will prepare the proposal to be forwarded to WG2. The preparation includes the following:

- a. Sort the final stable M-set ideographs by the sorting algorithm described in Annex A.
- b. Assign provisional UCS code positions to the sorted M-set ideographs (with agreement from ISO 10646 project editor on block assignment).
- c. Make available the TrueType fonts for each member body with assigned provisional UCS code positions (fonts have to be available in accordance with the requirement stated in point 5 of A.1. – Submitter’s Responsibilities in Annex A, WG2 Principles and Procedures)

Deleted: s

- i. Each submitter is encouraged to prepare and submit its own font for best font quality.
- ii. If a submitter has difficulty creating the font, other member bodies or the IRG technical editor may help creating the font. In this case, the glyph style of the submitter must be respected.
- iii. If the submitter cannot provide the TrueType font by this time, the collection by the submitter will be withdrawn from this working set.
- d. Prepare a list of source references.
- e. Produce a packed Multi-column Ideograph Chart using the TrueType fonts.

Deleted: collection

The IRG will conduct at least one round of review of the proposal and the chart generated using TrueType font before submission to WG2.

3. Procedures

This section describes the basic development procedures of CJK Unified Ideograph extensions. The ultimate purpose of the procedures outlined in this section is to realize the production of high quality CJK Unified Ideograph sets in an efficient manner.

Development procedures described in this section consists of 8 stages, and it may take two to three years to create a high quality ideograph set for standardization.

3.1. Call for Submission

- a. When a member body requests a new project for CJK Unified Ideograph extension and when the project is agreed upon at an IRG meeting, the IRG may call for submission of new ideographs. The IRG will also determine the deadline for the submission.
- b. Each member body with proposed ideographs must submit the ideographs before the specified deadline with required data described in Section 2 of this document.
- c. Member bodies must check whether the submitted ideographs are accompanied with all required information. If some required information is missing or misplaced, the IRG technical editor may ask the submitter to resubmit or supply the additional information if only minor problems are encountered. Otherwise, the submission can be rejected because consolidation with other member bodies' submissions cannot be carried out.

3.2. Consolidation and Grouping of Submitted Ideographs

Consolidation of submissions is normally done between IRG meetings. The consolidation includes the following tasks:

- a. The IRG technical editor will sort and assign *serial numbers* to submitted ideographs as described in Section 2.3.2.
- b. After serial numbers are assigned, submitted ideographs must undergo IDS checking to detect any duplication and unification. By the result of IDS checking as described in Section 2.3.3, submitted ideographs will be grouped into M-set and D-set as described in Section 2.3.4.
- c. After consolidation, a working draft will be assigned an IRG N document number with a version number, and will be distributed to member bodies' editors and made available on the official website of the IRG so that any other experts can have access to it. The IRG chief editor and technical editor may ask and assign member editors to check M-set and D-set ideographs either for the entire collection or certain portions of it depending on reasonable estimation of workload by the IRG chief editor and technical editor.

3.3. First Checking Stage

This stage, which is between IRG meetings, involves the following tasks:

- a. Each member body's editor must check the assigned M-set and D-set for data integrity, correctness, missing data and duplication. Checking for unification is not mandatory, but desirable. Typical review comment examples for each set are provided in Section 4.
- b. Members must submit their comments to the IRG chief editor and technical editor at least two months before the next IRG meeting.

- c. The IRG chief editor and technical editor must consolidate the comments and produce an IRG registered document for circulation and discussion at least one month before the next IRG meeting.
- d. Submitters are encouraged to prepare and submit supplementary documents (with IRG document numbers) so that they can be discussed at the next IRG meeting.

3.4. First Discussion and Conclusion Stage

This stage, which is during an IRG meeting, includes the following tasks:

- a. Members should review the comments which are officially submitted before the meeting with assigned IRG document numbers and the editorial group must reach conclusions for each commented ideograph in writing. Guidelines for typical conclusion are provided in Section 4.
- b. All the conclusions must be agreed to and endorsed by the IRG plenary in its resolutions. As a result of resolution, some ideographs would be removed or moved between M-set and D-Set.
- c. The IRG technical editor will create a new M-set and D-set a month after the IRG meeting, and register them as IRG registered document with version information.
- d. If more than 5% of ideographs submitted by a specific submitter are removed as a result of duplication or unification with existing standardized set, the entire submission of this submitter will be removed to ensure high quality of the project. This is known as the 5% Rule described in Section 2.2.6 above.

Deleted: make

Deleted: is

3.5. Second Checking Stage

This stage, which is between IRG meetings, involves the following tasks:

- a. Each member body's editor must check the newly created M-set and D-set for correctness and any duplication.
- b. Members should submit their comments with registered IRG document number to the IRG chief editor and technical editor at least two months before the next IRG meeting.
- c. The IRG chief editor and technical editor will consolidate the comments and produce a registered IRG document for circulation and discussion at least a month before the next IRG meeting.
- d. Members are encouraged to prepare and submit supplementary documents to facilitate discussion during the next IRG meeting.

3.6. Second Consolidation and Conclusion Stage

This stage, which is during an IRG meeting, includes the following tasks:

- a. Members must review the comments and draw conclusion for each ideograph. Typical comment and conclusion examples for each set are provided in Section 4.
- b. All the conclusions must be agreed to and endorsed by the IRG plenary in its resolutions. As a result of the resolutions, some ideographs may be removed or moved between M-set and D-set.
- c. The IRG technical editor will create a new M-set and D-set a month after the IRG meeting, and produce an IRG registered document.
- d. If more than 5% of ideographs submitted by a specific submitter are removed as a result of duplication or unification with existing standardized set, the entire submission of this submitter will be removed to ensure high quality of the project.

Deleted: make

Deleted: is

3.7. Final Checking Stage

This stage, which is between IRG meetings, involves the following tasks:

- a. All member bodies' editors are requested to check M-set intensively based on comments and conclusions made in all previous stages. In the final checking stage, no ideographs are allowed to be moved from D Set to M Set. If all queries about a D Set ideograph have been satisfactorily answered and accepted by the IRG, can it get back into M Set?
- b. Member bodies' editors must submit their comments to the IRG chief editor and technical editor at least two months before the next IRG meeting.

Deleted: -s

Deleted: -s

Deleted: es

- c. The IRG chief editor and technical editor will consolidate the comments and produce an IRG registered document for circulation and discussion at least a month before the next IRG meeting so that member bodies' editors can have time to review them before the next IRG meeting.

3.8. Approval and Submission to WG2

This stage, which is during an IRG meeting, involves the following tasks:

- a. Members should review the comments on M-set and reach conclusion for each ideograph.
- b. If there is no positive decision on an M-set ideograph, it will be moved to D-set. No character will be moved from D-set to M-set at this stage. Ideographs may only be moved from M-set to D-set.
- c. With the approval from the majority of IRG member bodies, M-set will be frozen as the new ideograph extension set to be submitted to WG2. The IRG technical editor will prepare the document in accordance with Section 2.6 of this document.
- d. The remaining D-set ideographs will not be removed. They will be kept and used in the next standardization work. To avoid repetition of discussion of previously checked ideographs, the discussion record will be maintained for future reference.

Deleted: make

Deleted:

4. Guidelines for Comments and Resolutions on Working Sets

The following tables list guidelines for typical comments and conclusions during the development process. All comments must be accompanied with date (in YY-MM-DD format) and member identifier (G, T, H, M, J, K, KP, MY, U or V). All conclusions must also be dated.

4.1. Guidelines for M Set

Deleted: -set

M-set is the ultimate target of the standardized ideograph set. As such, it must be carefully examined. If any suspicious characters are found, they will be moved to D-sets or removed from the working sets altogether.

Possible Comment by a Reviewer	Possible Resolution
Wrong or Missing Glyph	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● Glyph is corrected, or the missing glyph is supplied. The ideograph is moved to D-set for manual checking.
Wrong KangXi radical / strokes count / first stroke	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● Data will be corrected and this Ideograph will be moved to D-set for further manual checking.
Wrong IDS	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● IDS will be corrected and the character will be moved to D-set until <u>it is</u> checked again by the IDS checker. ● Moved to D-set (in case IDS cannot be corrected.)
May be unifiable with U+xxxx (standardized ideograph)	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● Unified with U+xxxx and requester will request new Source ID to U+xxxx. ● Unified with U+xxxx and requester will request that this character be treated as <u>a</u> Compatibility Ideograph. ● Unified to U+xxxx and this entry will be removed. (May consider to register it to IVS.) ● Not unifiable.
May be unifiable with xxxxx (M-set ideograph)	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● Unified with xxxxx and this source ID will be attached to xxxxx. ● Unified with xxxxx and the requester may consider <u>registering it as a</u> Compatibility Character or IVS. ● Not Unifiable.

Deleted: they are

Deleted: it to

4.2 Guidelines for D Set

Ideographs in D Set are the ones that either cannot be checked automatically by IDS checking algorithm or the ones of which the attribute data have been questioned by a member body or that are suspected to be unifiable with other standardized or working ideographs. For the ideographs that cannot be machine-checked by IDS matching, at least two non-requester members must check them manually to ensure that the ideographs are not unifiable with any standardized ideograph or working ideograph. For the ideographs that might be unifiable with other ideographs, a submitter is requested to prepare arguments and evidence to show that such ideographs should be separately encoded.

Possible Comment by IDS Checker	Possible Conclusion
<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Incomplete IDS● IDS with extra character.● Component is not an ideograph	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● IDS will be corrected and it will be moved to M-set when next IDS-check is done.● Proper IDS cannot be generated and manual checking is needed.
Possible Comment by a Reviewer	Possible Conclusion
<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Wrong KangXi radical● Wrong Stroke count● Wrong First stroke	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Data will be corrected.● Proposal to correct data is not accepted, as it is an ambiguous case and the IRG agrees that the previous choice of XX is more appropriate.
<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Wrong IDS	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● IDS will be corrected and will be checked by the IDS checker again.● Correct IDS cannot be generated and manual checking is needed.
May be unifiable with U+xxxxx (standardized ideograph)	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Unified with U+xxxxx and new source is added to U+xxxxx. Entry is no longer used.● Not unifiable, as shown by the evidence IRG N xxxx. Moved to M-set.
May be unifiable with xxxxx (M-set or D-set Ideograph)	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Unified with xxxxx and this entry is no longer used.● Unified with xxxxx. (xxxxx is removed.)● Not unifiable, as shown by the evidence IRG N xxxx. Move to M-set
Checked against all standardized and working ideographs with radical X and stroke of Y±2.	<ul style="list-style-type: none">● Moved to M-set, as two non-submitter members (XX and YY) confirmed that this ideograph is not unifiable with any existing standardized or working ideographs.● Checking against ideographs with radical X may not be enough. This ideograph will also be checked against ideographs with radical Z.

5. IRG Website

The IRG maintains its own web site at <http://www.cse.cuhk.edu.hk/~irg/>, hosted by the Department of Computer Science and Engineering at The Chinese University of Hong Kong. IRG meeting notices, minutes, resolutions, document register, documents and standing documents are made available at this site. Hyperlinks to WG2 websites will be provided for member bodies' easy access. For faster retrieval of documents and searching, documents should not be compressed as far as possible and the site search engine window should be made available. Documents larger than 4MB must be split into multiple files for easy uploading, downloading and searching. The compressed files must be in WinZip format with .zip extension.

6. IRG Document Registration

All documents to be formally discussed by the IRG must be registered with assigned IRG document numbers (assigned by IRG Rapporteur) and containing submission date, title, submitting member body, or the author, purpose (or summary), and the 'IRG Ideographic Repertoire Submission Summary Form' (when applicable).

6.1. Registration Procedures

The following gives the registration procedures:

- a. **Request for Document Number:** All documents submitted to the IRG must be given a registered document number. The assignment is done by the IRG Rapporteur. A member body will first contact the IRG Rapporteur for a document number with a document title. Once the document number is assigned, the information will be posted on the IRG website. Some document numbers can be pre-assigned during IRG meetings for activities between IRG meetings.
- b. **Submission of Documents:** All registered documents must be submitted to the IRG Rapporteur. The submitted documents must also contain an assigned IRG document number in text form so that searching can be supported.
- c. **Posting of Documents:** Properly submitted documents are then posted by the IRG Rapporteur on the IRG website as official documents.
- d. **Disqualified Documents:** Documents with certain basic information missing such as submitter's name, title and purpose may be rejected by the IRG Rapporteur for posting. All other documents which fail to comply with the above registration process and the preliminary review by the IRG Rapporteur for basic information will not be treated as IRG documents. As such, issues to be addressed contained in such documents will not be discussed by the IRG formally.

6.2. Contact for IRG Document Registration

The current IRG rapporteur is Dr. Qin LU and her contact information is as follows:

Professor Qin Lu
Department of Computing
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
Hung Hom, Hong Kong
Tel. (852) 2766 7247
Fax. (852) 2774 0842
Email: csluqin@comp.polyu.edu.hk

Annex A: Sorting Algorithm of Ideographs

Ideographs must be sorted by the following order.

a. **KangXi Radical order.**

Note: When radicals are in simplified forms given below, ideographs with simplified radicals must be placed after the ideographs with corresponding traditional radicals.

Simplified Radicals		Traditional Radicals	
R119. 1	纟	R119. 0	糸
R146. 1	见	R146. 0	見
R148. 1	讠	R148. 0	言
R153. 1	贝	R153. 0	貝
R158. 1	车	R158. 0	車
R166. 1	钅	R166. 0	金
R167. 1	长	R167. 0	長
R168. 1	门	R168. 0	門
R177. 1	韦	R177. 0	韋
R180. 1	页	R180. 0	頁
R181. 1	风	R181. 0	風
R182. 1	飞	R182. 0	飛
R183. 1	饣	R183. 0	食
R186. 1	马	R186. 0	馬
R194. 1	鱼	R194. 0	魚
R195. 1	鸟	R195. 0	鳥
R196. 1	卤	R196. 0	鹵
R198. 1	麦	R198. 0	麥
R204. 1	黾	R204. 0	黽
R209. 1	齐	R209. 0	齊
R210. 1	齿	R210. 0	齒
R211. 1	龙	R211. 0	龍

b. **Stroke Count.**

Note: Simplified characters must be placed after traditional characters within the same stroke-number group.

c. **First stroke.**

Commented [h8]: Examples to be added later.

B.1. Guidelines on Creation of IDS

B.2. Requirements on IDS Matching

1. IDS matching should be able to handle different split points.
(e.g. 𠄎𠄎𠄎 and 𠄎𠄎𠄎 should be matched.)
2. IDS matching should be able to handle different split levels.
(e.g. 𠄎𠄎𠄎 and 𠄎𠄎𠄎𠄎𠄎𠄎 should be matched.)
3. IDS matching should match different glyphs of the same abstract shape.
(e.g. 𠄎𠄎𠄎 and 𠄎𠄎𠄎 should be matched.)
4. IDS matching should match similar glyphs.
(e.g. 𠄎𠄎𠄎 and 𠄎𠄎𠄎 should be matched.)
5. IDS matching should match IDS with different orderings of overlapping IDC.
(e.g. 𠄎𠄎𠄎 and 𠄎𠄎𠄎 should be matched.)
6. IDS matching should match unifiable IDC patterns.
(e.g. 𠄎𠄎𠄎 and 𠄎𠄎𠄎 should be matched.)
7. IDS matching should be able to handle any combination of the above.
8. IDS matching should be able to detect any inappropriate IDS, such as IDS being too long, IDS with non-ideographic DC, or missing or extra DC or IDC.

It should be noted that IDS matching cannot detect unification or duplication if a component cannot be encoded by an IDS, or if the glyph itself is very complex. IDS matching is done algorithmically. It is not versatile on detection of the unifiable ideographs unless rules are explicitly given to the algorithm. Thus, it is not meant to be the replacement of manual checking. Rather, it is an assistive tool for quality assurance to identify duplication and known cases of unification. Therefore, it is very important for submitters to make sure that their submitted ideographs are not going to be unified with any standardized or previously discussed ideographs.

Annex C: Urgently Needed Ideographs

C.1. Introduction

When a member body urgently needs a few ideographs to be standardized for some good reasons (such as they are ideographs in Regional or National Standard), the member body may, with the approval of the IRG, submit the ideographs independent of any of the current IRG working set to WG2.

Deleted: ideographs

C.2. Requirements

The submitter of urgently needed ideographs must prepare the following documents:

- a. All the documents required as in normal ideograph submissions.
- b. In addition to the above, a document to show any unifiable ideographs in the current IRG working sets against the submitted ideographs.
- c. For ideographs not mentioned above, the document must prove that their submitted ideographs are not unifiable with any ideographs in the current working set. The proof may be provided by listing the documents the submitter has checked, and for each proposed ideograph, a list of ideographs whose radicals and strokes were checked against. It is an important responsibility of the submitter to check with not only current standardized CJK ideographs, but also the IRG working set for any unifiable characters against its submission. If a submitter fails to do the above, the submission will not be approved by the IRG as an IRG-endorsed independent submission to WG2.

Deleted: ly

C.3. Dealing with Urgent Requests

The IRG may at its discretion accept the document from the submitter of urgently needed ideographs for discussion if the amount of work is considered to be reasonably small for IRG review without unreasonable disruption to its on-going projects. Accepted submissions must be checked by the IRG for correctness, duplication and unification. All accepted ideographs as an independent submission must be checked with the current IRG working sets. When an ideograph is found to be identical or unifiable with the ones in the current IRG working sets, such ideograph must be noted and removed from the current IRG working sets if approval by WG2 is given.

Annex D: Up-to-Date CJK Unified Ideograph Sources and Source References

Commented [h9]: To be reviewed by member body and updated. Currently, this is extracted from ISO 10646:2003 with Malaysia added.

- D1. Member body Code:
G: China
H: Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
J: Japan
K: Republic of Korea
KP: Democratic People's Republic of Korea
M: Macao Special Administrative Region
MY: Malaysia (Added in Nov. 2008 in IRG Meeting No. 31)
T: Taipei Computer Association
U: Unicode Consortium/USA?
V: Vietnam
- D2. The Hanzi G sources
G0 GB2312-80
G1 GB12345-90 with 58 Hong Kong and 92 Korean "Idu" characters
G3 GB7589-87 traditional forms
G5 GB7590-87 traditional forms
G7 General Purpose Hanzi List for Modern Chinese Language, and General List of Simplified Hanzi
GS Singapore Characters
G8 GB8565-88
GE GB16500-95
G_KX Kangxi Dictionary ideographs (康熙字典) including the addendum (康熙字典) 補遺
G_HZ Hanyu Dazidian ideographs (漢語大字典)
G_CY Ci Yuan (辭源)
G_CH Ci Hai (辭海)
G_HC Hanyu Dazidian (漢語大詞典)
G_BK Chinese Encyclopedia (中國大百科全書)
G_FZ Founder Press System (方正排版系統)
G_4K Siku Quanshu (四庫全書)
- D3. Hanzi H sources
Hong Kong Supplementary Character Set(HKSCS)
- D4. Hanzi T sources
T1 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 first plane
T2 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 second plane
T3 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 third plane with some additional characters
T4 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 forth plane
T5 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 fifth plane
T6 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 sixth plane
T7 TCA-CNS 11643-1992 seventh plane
TF TCA-CNS 11643-1992 fifteenth plane
- D5. Kanji J sources
J0 JIS X 0208-1990
J1 JIS X 0212-1990
J3 JIS X 0213:2000 level-3
J4 JIS X 0213:2000 level-4
JA Unified Japanese IT Vendors Contemporary Ideographs, 1993
- D6. Hanja K sources are
K0 KS C 5601-1987
K1 KS C 5657-1991
K2 PKS C 5700-1 1994
K3 PKS C 5700-2 1994
K4 PKS 5700-3:1998
- D7. Hanja KP sources
KP0 KPS 9566-97
KP1 KPS 10721-2000
- D8. ChuNom V sources
V0 TCVN 5773:1993

V1 TCVN 6056:1995
V2 VHN 01:1998
V3 VHN 02: 1998
D9. MY sources

Annex E: List of Over-unified and Mis-unified Ideographs

E.1 Introduction

There are some known mis-unification and over-unification cases in the ISO/IEC 10646. However, once encoded, over-unified and mis-unified characters should not be separately encoded unless agreed upon by WG2. Therefore, requesters must be careful that their proposal does not include such over-unified character. In this section, known over-unified and mis-unified ideographs are listed. Requesters should check against this section before submitting their proposed ideographs to the IRG.

E.2 List of Over-unified Ideographs

<<Insert Contents of IRG N 1483 Appendix B2>>

E.3 List of Mis-unification Ideographs

<<Insert Contents of IRG N 1395>>

Commented [h10]: Taichi: I only have pdf files, cannot do insert at this time. To IRG members: I suggest that we make a number of standing documents in IRG which can be updated from time to time. This should be one of them.

Annex F: IRG Repertoire Submission Summary Form

ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2/IRG PROPOSAL SUMMARY FORM TO ACCOMPANY SUBMISSIONS FOR ADDITIONS OF CJK UNIFIED **IDEOGRAPHS** TO THE REPERTOIRE OF ISO/IEC 10646

Please fill in all the sections below.

Please read Principles and Procedures Document (P & P) from <http://appsrv.cse.cuhk.edu.hk/~irg/irg31/IRGN1562.pdf>
for guidelines and details before filling in this form.

Please ensure you are using the latest Form from [http://appsrv.cse.cuhk.edu.hk/~irg/irg31/IRGN1562.pdf](http://appsrv.cse.cuhk.edu.hk/~irg/irg/irg31/IRGN1562.pdf).

See also <http://appsrv.cse.cuhk.edu.hk/~irg/UCV.html> for latest **Unifiable Calligraphic Variations**.

A. Administrative

1. IRG Project Code:	e.g. Extension-E
2. Title:	
3. Requester's region/country name:	
4. Requester type (National Body/Individual contribution):	
5. Submission date:	
6. Requested Ideograph Type (Unified or Compatibility Ideographs)	
If Compatibility, does requester have the intention to register them as IVS (See UTS #37) with the IRG's approval? (Registration fee will not be charged if authorized by the IRG.)	
7. Request Type (Normal Request or Urgently Needed)	
8. Choose one of the following:	
This is a complete proposal:	
(or) More information will be provided later:	

B. Technical – General

1. Number of ideographs in the proposal:	
2. Glyph format of the proposed ideographs: (128x128 "bmp" files or TrueType font file)	
If 'bmp' files, their file names are the same as their Source IDs?	
If TrueType font, all proposed glyphs are put into BMP PUA area?	
If TrueType font, data for Source IDs vs. character codes are provided?	
3. Source IDs:	
Do all the proposed ideographs have a unique, proper Source ID (country/region code and less than 9 alphanumeric characters)?	
4. Evidence:	
a. Do all the proposed ideographs have the separate evidence document which contains at least one scanned image of printed materials (preferably dictionaries)?	
b. Do all the printed materials used for evidence provide enough information to track them by a third party (ISBN numbers, etc.)?	
5. Attribute Data Format: (Excel file or CSV)	

Deleted: p

Deleted: IDEOGRAPHS

Deleted: will

Deleted: an

C. Technical - Checklist

Understandings of the Unification Checklist

1. Has the requester read the ISO/IEC 10646 Annex S and did the requester understand the unification policy?
2. Has the requester read the "Unifiable Calligraphic Variations" ([contact](#) IRG technical editor for the latest one) and did the requester understand the unifiable variation examples?
3. Has the requester read this P&P document and did the requester understand the 5% rule?

Character-Glyph Duplication Checklist(<http://www.itscj.ipsj.or.jp/sc2/open/pow.htm> contains all the published ones and those under ballot)

4. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs is **not unifiable** with the unified or compatibility ideographs of ISO/IEC 10646?
If yes, which version of ISO/IEC 10646 did requester check? (e.g. 10646:2003)
5. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs is **not unifiable** with the ideographs in Amendments of current ISO/IEC 10646? (As of 2008, Amendment 1, 4, and 5 have the ideographs.)
If yes, which amendments did requester check?
6. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs is **not unifiable** with the ideographs in the current IRG working sets or proposed amendments of ISO/IEC 10646? (As of 2008, PDAM 6 has the ideographs.)
If yes, which draft amendments did requester check?
7. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs is **not unifiable** with the ideographs in the current working M-set and D-set of the IRG? (Contact IRG chief editor and Technical Editor for the newest list)
If yes, which document did requester check?
8. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs is **not unifiable** with the over-unified or mis-unified ideographs in ISO/IEC 10646? (Check Annex E of this document).
9. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs **has similar ideograph** with the ideographs in the current standardized or working set mentioned above?
10. Has the requester checked that any of the proposed ideographs **has variant ideograph** with the ideographs in the current standardized or working set mentioned above?

Attribute Data Checklist

11. Do all the proposed ideographs have the radical code, stroke count and first stroke attributes in attribute data?
12. Are there any simplified ideographs (ideographs that are based on the policy described in 簡化字總表) in the proposed ideographs?
If YES, does your proposal include proper simplified/traditional indication flag for each proposed ideograph in attribute data?
13. Do all the proposed ideographs have the document page number of evidence documents in attribute data?
14. Do all the proposed ideographs have the proper Ideographic Description Sequence (IDS) in attribute data?
If NO, how many proposed ideographs do not have the IDS?
15. If the answer to question 9 or 10 is yes, do the attribute data include similar/variant ideographs information for proposed ideographs?

Deleted: check

WG2 Principles and Procedures Annex I: Guideline for Handling of CJK Ideograph Unification or Disunification Errors

(Source: www.dkuug.dk/jtc1/sc2/wg2/docs/principles.html)

There are two kinds of errors that may be encountered related to coded CJK unified ideographs.

Case 1: *to be unified* error - Ideographs that should have been unified are assigned separate code points.

Case 2: *to be disunified* error - Ideographs that should not have been unified are unified and assigned a single code point. An example of this is the request from TCA in document [N2271](#).

When such errors are found, the following guidelines will be used by WG 2 to deal with them.

I.1 Guideline for “To Be Unified” Errors

- A. The “*to be unified*” pair will be left disunified. Once a character is assigned a code position in the standard, it will not be removed from the standard.
- B. If necessary, an additional note may be added to an appropriate section in the standard.

I.2 Guideline for “To Be Disunified” Errors

- A. The ideographs to be disunified should be disunified and should be given separate code positions as soon as possible (disunification in some sense, and character name change in some sense also). These ideographs will have two separate glyphs and two separate code positions. One of these ideographs will stay at its current encoded position. The other one will have a new glyph and a new code position.
- B. For the ideographs that are encoded in the BMP, the code charts in ISO/IEC 10646 are presented in multiple columns, with possibly differing glyph shapes in each column. The question of which glyph will be used for the currently encoded ideograph will be resolved as follows. In the interest of synchronization between ISO/IEC 10646 and the Unicode standard, the ideograph with the glyph shape that is similar to the glyph that is published in the “[Unicode Charts](#)” will continue to be associated with its current code position. For the ideographs outside the BMP, the glyph shape in ISO/IEC 10646 and the Unicode Charts are identical and will be used with its current code position.
- C. The disunified ideograph will have a glyph that is different from the one that retains the current code position.
- D. The net result will be an addition of new ideograph character and a correction and an additional entry to the source reference table.

I.3 Discouragement of New Disunification Request

There is a possibility of “pure true disunification” request. This is almost like the new source code separation request. This kind of request will not be accepted disregarding the reasoning behind. Key difference between “TO BE DISUNIFIED” and “WILL NOT BE DISUNIFIED” is as follows.

- a. If character pair is non-cognate (meanings are different), that pair of characters is TO BE DISUNIFIED.
- b. If a character pair is cognate (means the same but different shape), that pair of characters WILL NOT BE DISUNIFIED.

Disunification request with reason of mis-application (over-application usually) of unification rule should NOT be accepted due to the principle in resolution [M41.11](#).

WG2 PnP Annex J: Guideline for Correction of CJK Ideograph Mapping Table Errors

(Source: [ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2 N2577](#) – 2003-09-02)

In principle, mapping table or reference to code point of existing national/regional standard (in the source reference tables) must not be changed. But once a fatal error is found it should be corrected as early as possible, under following guidelines:

J.1 Priority of error correction procedure

- A. Consider adding new code position and source-reference mapping for the character in question rather than changing the mapping table.
- B. If change of mapping table is unavoidable, correction should be done as soon as possible.

J.2 Announcement of addition or correction of mapping table

Once any addition or correction of mapping table is made, an announcement of the change should be made immediately. Usually this will be in the form of a resolution of a WG 2 meeting, followed by subsequent process resulting in an appropriate amendment to the standard.

J.3 Collection and maintenance of mapping tables that are not owned by WG 2

There are many mapping tables, which are included in national/regional standards or developed by third parties. These are out of WG 2's scope. Any organization (such as Unicode Consortium) that collects mapping information, maintains it consistently and makes this information widely available is invited and encouraged to do so.

References

Document numbers in the first column in the following table refer to IRG working documents (ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2/IRGNxxxx), except where noted otherwise. For documents with no link, you may try <http://www.cse.cuhk.edu.hk/~irg/>; some older documents may only be available in paper form (contact the IRG rapporteur Prof. Lu Qin).

Doc. No.	Title	Source	Date
WG2 N3201	Principles and Procedures for Allocation of New Characters and Scripts and Handling of Defect Reports on Character Names Annex S	WG2	2007-03-14
N681	http://standards.iso.org/ittf/PubliclyAvailableStandards/c039921_ISO_IEC_10646_2003(E).zip	Bruce Peterson and IRG Rapporteur	1999-11-18
N881	CJK Extension C Submission Format	IRG	2001-12-04
N953	Minutes of the Adhoc meeting on submitted documents: N941, N942, N944, N945, N948, N949	CJK ad hoc group	2002-11-22
N954	Report on first stroke/stroke count by ad hoc group	CJK ad hoc group	2002-11-22
N954AR	N954 Appendix: First Stroke / Stroke Count Chart	CJK ad hoc group	2002-11-21
N955	IRG Radical Classification	Ideograph Radical Ad Hoc	2002-11-21
N956	Ideograph Unification	Ideograph Radical Ad Hoc	2002-11-21
N1105	Amendments to IRG N954AR	Macao	2005-01-03
N1183	IDS decomposition principles(Revised by the IRG)	KAWABATA, Taichi	2005-12-28
N1197	Sample evidence for CJK C1 candidates	Japan	2006-05-22
N1372	On Better use of IDS on IRG development process	KAWABATA, Taichi	2007-11-09
SC2 N3933		SC2	

Glossary:[to be updated later]

Source: A reputable published document such as a dictionary, a standardization document, or a well published and widely read or referenced book which the IRG would consider as authoritative such that the characters in this source are considered reliable and stable for consideration of inclusion.

Commented [A11]: Add Clause No. in ISO10646

Abstract shape:

D-set:

M-set:

Working set:

Compatibility characters:

Ideographic Description Sequence(IDS):

New Source: ISO reference